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Connells Limited
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

Group Directors’ Report

The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.
INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW

Connells Limited (*Connells™} is a private limited company incorporated in England & Wales with registered number 03187394

During the year the Group purchased 100% of the share capital of Countrywide plc (now Countrywide Limited) for cash consideration of
£131.8m. Further detail is set out in the Group Strategic Report and note 24.

The Connells Group estate agency combines residential sales and lettings expertise with a range of consumer and corporate services
including land and new homes, mortgage services, conveyancing, corporate iettings and auctions. At 31 December 2021, Connells and
its subsidiaries {the ‘Group') trade under B4 brands from 1,250 (2020: 581) estate agency branches (including lettings only).

The Group, through its two subsidiaries Connells Survey & Valuations Limited and Countrywide Surveyors Limited is also one of the
largest providers of residential survey and valuation services to homebuyers, lenders and other participants in the UK residential
property market. These companies aiso offer panel management services, administering surveys and valuations on behalf of clients in
addition to carrying out the survey or valuation through its own employed surveyors.

Lambert Smith Hampton Limited carries on business as commercial surveyors and property advisers, offering a wide range of
professional services to commercial property occupiers, investors and developers within the UK.

The New Homes Group Limited operates in the new build sector offering a range of services to house builders and their customers,
including mortgage broking and part exchange management services.

The Group provides asset management services, which manages repossessed and other properties on behalf of lenders and other
clients such as prabate providers.

The Group also has a number of other subsidiaries and joint ventures providing services in areas such as morigage services,
conveyancing, will services and the provision of energy performance certificates.

An overview of the objectives of the business and the challenges it faces, together with the key measures used to monitor the
performance of the business, is set out in the Strategic Report.

Details of financial instruments and associated risks are also provided in the Group Strategic Report and Note 26 to the Financial
Statements.

DIRECTORS
The Directors who served during the year and up to the date of this report were:

RS Shipperley

RJ Twigg

DC Livesey

bJ Cutter

DK Plumtree

RSDM Ndawula (resigned 1 March 2021)
AJ Burton

IM Cornelius {appointed 1 March 2021)
MJ Lund (appointed 1 March 2021)

DJ Cutter, RSDM Ndawula, AJ Burton, IM Cornelius and MJ Lund are also Directors of the ultimate parent undertaking, Skipton
Building Society.

DIVIDENDS

During the year the company paid interim ordinary dividends of £60,000,000 (2020: £20,000,000).

The Directors do not propase a final ordinary dividend in respect of the current financial year (2020 £nit).

CHARITABLE AND POLITICAL DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations of £105,00C during the year (2020: £53,000}.

The Group made no political donations during the year (2020 £nil)

EMPLOYEES

It is Company and Group pelicy to regularly provide employees with information concerning their roles and responsibilities and the

trading performance of the Company and Group. This policy is to ensure opportunities are available at every level to improve both
employees' individual and corporate performance. Directors regularly brief all employees through a series of meetings and newsletters.
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Group Directors’ Report (continyed)

EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES

The Group's approach is to ensure it recruits and promates the right people regardless of gender, disability, age, sexual orientation or
race, and operates a culture of meritocracy whereby career progression is based on ability. It facilitates opportunities for all employees
to progress and regularly reviews practices and policies. t regards its people as its most valuable asset and is committed to investing
in them to achieve their full potential, without discrimination.

People with disabifities are given equal opportunities wherever they can fulfil the requirements of the job. If an empioyee becomes
disabled during their employment with the Group, every reasenable effort is made to enable them to continue their career within the
Group.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITOR

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are each aware. there is no
relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware; and each Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have
taken as a Director to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that
information.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors have undertaken a thorough assessment of the Group’s financial forecasts to 31 December 2023, including the
continuing impact of Covid-19 on s operations within the UK. 2021 was an excellent year for the UK housing market in terms of
number of transactions, and the Group’s ability to capitalise on the favourable market conditions enabled it to report a significantly
increased profit for the year.

On 8 March 2021 the Group took out a £253.0m loan from Skipton Building Society, its ultimate parent undertaking, in order to fund the
acquisition of Countrywide pic {“Countrywide™). The loan provided the capital to acquire Countrywide, settle the existing debt within
Countrywide and enabie investment and working capital for the Group. The strong trading during the year has allowed the Group to
repay £125.0m of the capital balance of the loan prior to the year end. and the outstanding liability at the year end is £128.2m. There
are no covenants attached to the loan.

The Group is also funded by its operating profits and the cash thereby generated. For the year ended 31 December 2021 the Group
reported a net profit before tax of £111.3m (2020: £51.8m) and at 31 December 2021 had cash balances amaunting to £119.1m {2020:
£103.1m), even after paying dividends totaling £60.0m (2020: £20.0m) to its shareholders and the loan repayments of £125.0m above.
At the date of signing these accounts, the Group continues to hold a sufficient working cash batance of £67.7m (2020: £33.6m).

The Group has modelled downtum scenarios as detailed beiow, which include mitigating actions including reducing headcount, capital
and other digcretionary spend. As a result of the modelling, the Directors have deemed it appropriate to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statementis of the Group and Company for the year ended 31 December
2021.

The Directors have also performed extensive stress lesting to moedel potential market shocks, inclugding any conlinuing or worsening
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, and their potential impact on business volumes. In particular the Directors have considered and
modelled a number of severe but plausible scenarios, including the impact of a material downturn in the UK housing market caused by
the ongoing Covid-18 pandemic or othar political and economic circumstances. The key assumptions used in this severe stress
scenario are as follows:
- UK housing market transactions fall to the levels seen in the 2008 financial crisis, the lowest on record, a decline of over 30%
on the base scenario. This would have a proportionate impact on most revenue streams as volumes decling.
House price deflation of 30%.
- Mitigating actions to reduce headcount, capital expenditure and marketing spend.
- No government support has been assumed to be available, but any support available would likely be utilised and improve the
liquidity position further.

The results from such stress testing indicate that the Group would be able to withstand the financial impact. The Group's financial
strength means that it is well positioned to withstand such a downturn.

A reverse stress test has also been performed, which required a significantly deeper and prolonged downturn for the Group to exceed
available funds, which the Directors consider to be remote. Were this unlikely situation to accur then there are further actions avaitable
and within the control of management to reduce costs and manage liquidity.

As a result of the above and following carefut consideration, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the annual financial statements.
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STREAMLINED ENERGY CARBON REPORTING (SECR)

The Board recognises that, as a responsidle business it has an obligation ‘o cperate -n a manrer that minimises the Group s impact on
the znviranment We operate in a sector that has a relatively low carbon foolprnl. howevar we follow ralevant environrrental legislatior
in carryirg out our busingss. and Group poucy 15 to seek to minimise our contrbutior to envionmental damage and maximisa our
contribution to safe recycling ard reprocessing of waste materials

The Group Environmental Policy outines the ways in which the Group reduces tha use of paper. utiises recycling options, reduces
poliution ard levels of erergy use [nhatves such as the progressive raducton in company car CQ: emussions. the replacement of
ghting with lew arergy urits and the solf out of smart electricity and gas metars are examples of the Group § commitment to cperating
in an environmentatly sustainable way

Gickal Greenhouse Gas emissiors ang energy use data from 01 January to 3t Decertber 202! gives a tctal energy consurrpton figure
across all stes uncluding transport) totalling 47 755.70% kWh (2020 19.421 096 KW which torvarts ta 10 281 tC0O2e (2030 6 123 1CO2e;
inneas of carban dioxide aquivalent)

Emissions from the purcrase of electrcty. heat. steam and cooling for our own use was 4 678 tCO2e (2020 3.602 tCO2e) wih
transport and gas accounting for 5186 tCO2e (2020:2,521 tCO2e)  In terms of emission intensity, total tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent per £m of Graup's turmover 15 9 71 {2020 18.33;. which 15 considerad 1o be low. reflactirg the Group s refatively low carbon
footprirt giver its size

In terms of metnadology an ESOS Phase 2 ste survey was undertaker by Catalyst and BiU third arty experts. and a walkthrough of
buildings was carried out  The purpose of the survey was to undertake a high-level revew of enargy consumption within the site by
aiso using the 12-morths data on energy use to dentfy where erergy is beng used and then to dentfy the cotential to reduce energy
consumption  As part of this process. assets and actwities of significant erergy consumgption were 'dentfied ard the demand in the
tolal energy consumption Jata for these was apportioned as appropriate  For the purpesa of SECR. the Connells Group 18 considered
to have access to goed consumption data and fult utility data, provided from half hourly interval data and or venfied suppler invoice
data From this data an accurate profile has been established for the amcunt of consumed energy durng this tme cenod.

AUDITOR

Pursuant 1o Sectior 487 of the Companies Act 2006 the audtor will be deemed to pe reapponted ard Ernst & Young LLP wil
therefore contirue n office

By order of the board

)] 1 ‘
ZC o
-/
OC Lvesey
Crrector

17 March 2022

Cumbra House
15-20 Hockliffe Straet
Leighton Buzzard
Beds

LUT 1GN
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Group Strategic Report
2021 BUSINESS REVIEW

2021 2020
Total income?® £1,003.8m £379.8m
Earnings before interast, tax, depreciation and amortisation, impairment
and contingent consideration (EBITDA)® £181.1m £80.5m
Profit before fax £111.3m £51.8m
Movement in: 2021 2021 LFL® 2020
Estate agency property exchanges +175% +50% ~16%
Residential lettings properties under management +211% +3% +0%
Number of mortgages arranged +70% +8% -2%
Surveys and valuations completed +224% +26% -15%
Number of conveyancing transactions arranged +149% +56% -20%

? Tolal iIncome compnses revenua {£899.5m), olher operating ncome (£3.1m) and Group share of profit after tax in joint ventures (£1,2m).
© Before Group share of profit after tax in jont ventures, dividends pawd 1o non-controlling Interest, profit on disposal of mnvestments and farr value gains on step acquisiions of Group
undertakings

© Like for hke excludes the impact of acquistions made in 2021

The Group's acquisition of the entire share capital of Countrywide for £131.8m, on 8 March 2021, dominated the year, and created the
UK's largest estate agency measured by both market share and number of branches. The acquisition has complemented the Group’s
existing services, enhanced its value proposition for customars and benefitted consumers as a whole. The Group continues to believe
that a well-invested high street branch network, coupled with a diversified brand portfolic, provides an attractive offering to its
customers. The Group considers that the branch network of Countrywide is a key asset and intends to maintain and enhance
Countrywide's current branding and service offering, while leveraging its own track record of pasitive investment in people and
technology. An added benefit has been that the enlarged Connells Group can provide exciting career opportunities for both Connells
and Countrywide employees, and has the potential to attract the best talent in the industry across all areas of expertise. In order to
fund the transaction, enable the Group to repay existing external borrowings of Countrywide and provide working capital, Skipton
Building Society, the ultimate parent undertaking, provided a loan to Connells Limited of £253.0m.The excellent results and cash
generated during the year has enabled the Group to repay £125.0m of this loan prior to the year end, and £128.2m remains
outstanding at 31 December 2021,

The UK housing market remained strong during the majority of 2021. Following the re-opening of the market in May 2020 after the first
Covid-19 lockdown, the Government announced a partial stamp duty holiday, initially from 15 July 2020 to 31 March 2021, but
subsequently extended to 30 June 2021. This, together with pent up demand following Brexit and the pandemic, continuing low
interest rates and the “race for space” created excellent market conditions with transaction volumes reaching levels not seen far many
years. Whilst various local and national restrictions continued to be imposed periodically throughout the year, the housing market
remained open and the Group was able to continue trading and take advantage of the buoyant conditions.

Consequently, as a result of both an axcsllent trading performance, and the acquisition of Countrywide, the Group achieved an EBITDA
of £181.1m for 2021, more than double the £8C.5m reported for 2020.  Profit before tax for the year was £111.3m (2020: £51.8m), this
being after charging £52.4m amortisation on intangible assets created as part of the Countrywide acquisition, and crediting a £27.1m
fair value gain on the dispasal of TM Group {UK) Limited which was sold on 8 July 2021

Management acknawledge the Covid-19 pandemic is not over and the Group's priarity throughout has been the health, safety and well-
being of its people and customers. The Group has invested in personal protective equipment (PPE), devised comprehensive working
practices and rofled out training to allow for a safe and secure enviranment for its people and customers. The Group’s IT systems
continue to enable those who can work from home to do so.

The number of properties that the Group exchanged contracts on during the year (including Countrywide) was 106,803 (2020: 38.864),
an increase of 175%, as the Group capitalised on the market conditions. On a like for like basis, the number of exchanges increased
by 50%. At the end of the year, the Group traded from 1,179 branches (31 December 2020: 581}

The Group's mortgage services proposition continues to perform strongly and the number of mortgages arranged by the Group
increased by 8% (76% including Countrywide), aided by the increase in the number of exchanges. The Group's estate agency and
new homes propositicn has also been complemented by the acquisition of Mortgage Intelligence, Dynamo and JAM advisers as part of
Countrywide and the total value of lending generated for UK mortgage providers during 2021 increased by 221% to £35.0bn (2020:
£10.9br) as the Connells Group remains focused on helping maore customers to buy homes or reduce their mortgage outgoings by
providing them with a good experience and outcome.

The Group's letting division manages a large number of properties on behalf of landlords, and also has a duty to ensure tenants are
kept safe and compliant with the latest regulations.  The number of properties under management at the year end was 122,518 (2020
39,381) an increase of 211% (3% on a like for like basis) during the year. The Group's lettings division continues its investment in
people and technology to improve productivity and drive down its administrative costs.
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The Group's conveyancing proposition heips customers ravigate the legal side of a property purchase or sale. The number of
conveyancing transactions arranged in 2021 increased by 149% (56% on a like for like basis) as a result of the increase in the number
of exchanges. The Group's ability to place more of its referrals to its in-house conveyancers was increased as a result of the
acquisition of Countrywide Property Lawyers as part of the Countrywide acquisition.

The Group's surveying capabilities were also increased by the acquisition of Countrywide Surveying Services, as part of the
Countrywide acquisition. Qur two survey and valuations business continue to trade separately, offering their services independently to
lenders and other participants in the UK property market. Our surveying businesses were able to complete survey and valuations
throughout 2021, whereas 2020 was impacted significantly by the lockdown as surveyors were unable to carry out physical visits.
Consequently the total number of survey and valuation jobs completed in 2021 increased by 224% year on year (26% on a like for like
basis). We continue to invest in new technotogy and process improvements to drive productivity, support clients’ risk management and
improve customer outcomes. This includes offering a desktop valuation proposition. We also continue to invest in people, training new
surveyors through AssocRICS development programmes, and the focus remains on delivering great customer service.

Lambert Smith Hampton (LSH), was acquired as part of Countrywide. It is one of the largest commercial property consuitancies in the
UK with 32 offices and over 1,000 employees  Warking with commercial property owners, investors and occupiers, LSH partners with
many household names across many different sectors, in both the public and private secter. LSH advises on all aspects of commercial
property transactions in addition to residential biock and commercial management. LSH posted good results in 2021, with income 10%
ahead of last year, particularly driven by the transactional service lines.

The Group’s cost base increased during the year as a result of the Countrwide acquisition, with total administrative expenses
increasing by £212.3m to £316.3m (increase of 204%, or 7% on a like for like basis). Following the acquisition of Countrywide,
management have integrated the two businesses, merging support functions where it makes commercial sense to do so, and reducing
duplicated costs. Focus on cost control remains an absolute priority of the business.

The Connells Group remains committed to invest in all parts of its business, aiming at delivering an efficient, customer focused
proposition, with its diverse business model being well positioned to manage fluctuations in the housing market. Within its estate
agency operations Connells maintains its focus on the service provided to customers through its high street presence. It invests in
digital products and solutions, including the continued enhancement of its customer communications and online portal to support its
branch operations in winning and retaining business and achieving successful transaction outcomes for customers.

Building upon the successes achieved through coordinated national campaigns, Connells has expanded its use of digital and sociat
media advertising. These activities are centrally managed and fully tracked via its lead management platform. This approach provides
flexibility, allowing the business to adapt quickly during changing market conditions.

The Group made a further three small business acquisitions during the year, each of which will complement and add to the Group's
proposition. Further details are set out in note 24.

The Group sold its entire 64.68% shareholding in TM Group (UK) Limited, for £58.7m in July 2021, recognising a fair value gain of
£27 1m. TM Group was established in 1999, with Connells acquiring a stake in the business alongside Countrywide, and subsequently
LSL and its divestment represents a great financial outcome for the Group. The Group continues its relationship with TM Group, as a
customer. See Note 24 for further details.

The Group sold its entire 23.59% shareholding in Tactile Limited (trading as Fixflo) in May 2021, recognising a profit on disposal of
£2.3m. The Group enjoyed a successful partnership with Fixflo and the sale represents a very good return on investment.

The Group ended 2021 with its sales pipeline below the prior year but still relatively high compared to historical levels, which bodes well
for a good start to 2022. Whilst market conditions have softened following the end of the stamp duty holiday, 2022 is not therefore
likely to be as strong a year as 2021, but nevertheless, with strong profitability and good liquidity the Group remains well poised to take
advantage of whatever market conditions present.

Section 172 statement — The Board's aparoach
Policies and Practices

The Board's objectives continue to be to maximise the long-term value and revenue streams for the Group's shareholders, to create
secure and rewarding employment for its people and to deliver a high quality service fo its customers. The Board considers its
sharehoiders, customers and colleagues to be the Group's key stakeholders.

The Connells Group aims to deliver sustainable and growing revenues from efficient operations supported by a lean management cost
structure, which enables the Group to adapt to market opportunities. Connells recognises that the housing market is cyclical and can
vary widely from one location to another. Across the Group, local entrepreneurship is actively encouraged and supported. This “grass
roots” awareness of customer service and profit management has been at the core of Connelis’ success and is a key component to its
future strategy.

The Group aims to grow its operations through both new branch openings and via acguisitions. Where a good strategic fit exists, the
Group proactively explores the acquisition of smaller regional players, who are often market leaders in their tocality.
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Corporate Governance

The Board is responsible for determining the Group's strategy for managing risk and overseeing its systems of internal control. The
ongoing effectiveness of these internal contrals is reviewed by the Board's Audit & Risk Committee on a regular basis. The Group
maintains appropriate standards of corporate governance in order to conduct its business in a prudent and well organised manner. The
Board's approach is based on the principles and provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the Cade) published by the
Financial Reporting Council. The Board's philosaphy is to comply with the Code where it applies to the Group. and its compliance is
reviewed annually.

Employee matters

The Connells Group seeks to attract great people and make sure they are highly engaged in an environment where they can perform to
high expectations and have the opportunity for a long, rewarding and fulfilling career.

In order to help achieve this, the Group seeks direct feedback from its workforce on areas such as leadership, reward. trust, respect,
well-being and communication. The Group carries out employee engagement surveys periodically, in which all employees are invited to
participate. As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, no such survey has been carried out since early 2020, but one is planned for 2022
The results of such surveys enable the Board to make decisions about where to focus attention to best effect. In particular, following
the most recent survey, the Board hag established a Diversity and Inclusion group, aimed at ensuring that the Group’s policies and
procedures continue to ensure that Connells supports a diverse and inclusive warkplace. The Board also includes groups of employees
in such activities.

The Group has a number of policies and practices in place to help ensure that the working environment encourages trust, respact,
recognition angd good communication. These include, for example, structured career pathways, dignity at work, equal opportunities and
a well embedded fire, health, safety and welfare policy. In addition, the Board aims to promote a diverse and inclusive culture, and
provide training to suppart mental health awareness. Remuneration structures are designed to reward high performance. The Group's
modern slavery policy supports the objectives of the Modern Stavery Act 2015, further details of which can be found on the Group
websita. Group paticies are reviewad and monitared regularly to ensure they remain appropriate and fit for purpase. Throughout the
Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has sought to operate with the safety of its calleagues and customers being its priority. it continues to
invest in PPE, provide extensive training to all its people and has implemented a number of Covid-secure standards across the
business.

The Group is committed to ensuring that there are no instances of bribery ar corruption throughout the business. Group policies exist,
drafted in line with best practice, to prohibit the offering, giving, solicitation or the acceptance of any bribe fo or from any person or
company by any individual employee, agent or other person or body acting on behalf of the Group. The policies are readily available for
employees to view an the internal intranet and employees are required to receive annual refresher training to ensure they can
recognise and prevent the use of bribery.

Saocial matters

The Groupis firmly committed to delivering good outcomes for all customers. This means ensuring that the range of products and
services offered meet the needs of customers, that the ‘end to end’ processes for delivering these services are appropriate and
effective, and that our people always have our custamers’ best interests at heart. Management seek to develop and maintain this ethos
within the culture of the business overall.

In January 2021, the Group launched a new charity partnership with Mind UK, which combines the efforts of Connells Residential and
Sequence, together with supporting head office functions and Countrywide, following its acquisition in March. Mind UK is the leading
mental heafth charity in England and Wales (SAMH — Scottish Association for Mental Health — in Scotland), providing advice and
support to empower anyone experiencing a mental health problem. The charity campatgns to improve services, raise awareness and
promote understanding, and provide support directly to those who need it most. This is a cause that resonates well with colleagues and
the Group provides support through a range of fundraising activities and campaigns across the network. Committed to raising over
£20 000 over two years as part of its corporate partnership, the Group raised over £40,000 in its first year alone. The business has also
joined forces with Pennies from Heaven to help raise further funds for Mind. Pennies from Heaven is the UK's largest workplace micro
giving scheme, taking the spare change from payslips each month and sending them directly to the charity.

The Group also participates in supporting national charitable events such as Comic Relief, Children in Need, Jeans for Genes, Wear it
Pink and Macmillan Coffee Morning, and on a local level, head offices based in Leighton Buzzard work with various partners on local
cammunity initiatives A number of subsidiaries also have their own charity partnerships and conduct their own local and community
fundraising

Environmental matters

The Board recognises that, as a responsible business, it has an obligation to operate in a manner that minimises the Group’s impact on
the environment. We operate in a sector that has a relatively low carbon footprint, however we follow relevant environmental legislation
in carrying out our business, and Group policy is to seek to minimise our contribution to environmental damage and maximise our
contribution to safe recycling and reprocessing of waste materials.

The Group Environmental Policy outlines the ways in which the Group reduces the use of paper, utilises recycling options, reduces
poliution and leveis of energy use. Initiatives such as the prograssive reduction irt company car CO2 emissions, the replacement of
lighting with low energy units and the roll out of smart electricity and gas meters are examples of the Group's commitment to gperating
in an environmentaily sustainable way.
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The Group's Environmental, Social and Governance committee, established in 2021, has a specific focus on reviewing where 'Ehe
Group’s CO2 footprint can be reduced, and implementing measures to do so. An example of this is in our John O Wood brand which
has agreed that all new company car purchases will be entirely electric vehicles.

Business relationships

The Group closely monitars all of its business relationships in order to allow it to provide its customers with excellent service across the
range of services offered. It assesses, on an ongoing basis, the risks of adverse impact on its customers, people and the environment
in which the Group operates as a result of these relationships, or as a result of its policies.

Relationships with key suppliers are closely monitored to ensure services are being provided in line with the terms of documented
agreements. Performance of key suppliers, along with associated risks to the Group and the environment are regularly assessed with
options for improvement considered where available. Regular reviews of adherence to key policies, such as Modern Slavery and
GDPR, are undertaken.

Board members and Senior Managers are engaged when neqgotiating terms with key suppliers and will often attend strategic review
meetings to guide the future approach with that supptier.

The Group's services are primarily delivered through its high street branch network, with support from centralised customer service
teams who help ensure the delivery of positive customer cutcomes. Customer interactions are underpinned by a range of proactive
communications and online tools which support and inform customers by providing them with timely updates, useful guides and
visibility of their transaction at each stage of the home buying. selling and renting journey.

The Group actively engages with its customers at key points during their transactions, through review platforms and customer care
teams, to measure and maintain the quality of its service delivery. The Group continues to support industry initiatives that seek to
improve and speed up the home buying process for the benefit of customers and other key stakeholder groups.

Decision making

The Board meets monthly and makes decisions which promote the success of the Group and its stakeholders. Proposais are
discussed in detail, approved and documented by the Board which ensures key decisions are taken considering the Group's risk
management framework detailed below. Examples of key decisions taken during 2021 include:

=  Final approval of the purchase of Countrywide plc in the early part of the year, and the taking out of a loar of £253m to fund
the acquisition, pay off Countrywide's external debt and provide working capital for the business. The Board concluded that
the acquisition represented a great opportunity for the Group and was in the interests of all stakeholders.

«  As explained in note 24, the Group acquired a further three small businesses during the year. The acquisitions support the
strategy of acquiring good businesses either in new locations or that enhance our presence in existing postcodes. The
acquisitions were made out of existing cash reserves.

+ The sale of the Group's 64.68% shareholding in TM Group (UK} Limited for proceeds of £58.7m. It was decided the sale
represented an excellent return on the investment and was in the best interests of shareholders

s  The sale of the Group's 22.9% shareholding in Tactile Limited (trading as Fixflo) for proceeds of £7.8m. It was agreed the
sale price represented an excellent return on investment and was in the best interests of shareholders.

=  The annual corporate plan was approved following a robust and comprehensive review process. It was agreed the plan was
an appropriate target for the Group to achieve an attractive shareholder return.

¢«  The Board agreed to repay £125.0m of the capital on the loan, earlier than stipulated in the loan agreement. The Group had
significant cash reserves following the excellent results for the year, and the Board agreed paying down the loan represented
good value for the Group.

. Approved interim dividends — Meeting shareholder dividend expectations is a top priority to ensure the funds are able to
benefit the wider Skipton Group. The corporate plan indicates the dividend Jlevel to be sustainable and still allow the Connells
Group to invest in growth, and meet the needs of its pension scheme members.

Risks and uncertainties

The Group recognises that successfully managing its risks is essential to support its activities. The Board has overall responsibility for
the systems of internal control and risk management and, through the Audit and Risk Commiittee, regularly assesses the management
of key risks facing the business. The Group operates a risk management framework which establishes principles to support the
effective management of risks. The Group’s risk appetite is documentead in risk appetite statements, which are reviewed and approved
annually by the Audit and Risk Committee, before being recommended for approval to the Board. The Group operates a three lines of
defence madel as follows:

* Management throughout the Group's businesses are primarily responsible for identifying, assessing, controlling, monitoring
and reparting risks and ensuring an appropriate risk management culture exists across their lines of responsibility.

« The Group's risk and compliance functions develop and oversee the risk management framework, set policy, provide
guidance and support to management and provide monitoring and oversight on behalf of the Board.

« Internal Audit, provided by the Skipton Group Intemal Audit function, provides third line independent assurance on the
systems of risk and internal controls in place across the Group.

During the period since acquisition by the Group, management has identified some weaknesses in the Countrywide financial control
environment. Work is ongoing as a matter of priority to embed the Group’s control framework and standards, including the same three
lines of defence model, within the Countrywide business. The Group’s Internal Audit function has performed a number of largeted
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Connells Limited
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

Group Strategic Report (continued)
Risks and uncertainties {continued)

reviews at Countrywide since acquisition, and has also performed specific procedures in response to weaknesses identified. Key
findings have been discussed with the Audit and Risk Committee, and follow-up actions agreed.

The principal risks facing the Group, together with how the Group seeks to mitigate these, are set out below:
Covid-19 pandemic

The businass was impacted in 2020 by the Covid-13 pandemic, which resulted in the closure of most Group branches and head office
premises for two months and activity levels declined significantly during that period. Partly as a result of UK Government initialives, the
housing market was buoyant during the majority of 2021 and the Group took advantage of that in producing excellent results.
Nevertheless. whilst the successful vaccination programme appears to have mitigated the Covid-19 risk to some extent, there remains
uncestainty over the future path of the pandemic. Should further restrictive measures be required, these may impact customer
sentiment and the wider economic recavery.

The Directors continue to monitor the progress of the pandemic and have taken a number of actions and contingency planning to
safeguard the future profitability and viability of the business and, through the business continuity pianning team, continue to take
appropriate action. The Group’s IT systems have enabled those people who can work from home to do so, and the Greup has
continued to be able to operate throughout the pandemic. The Group continues to invest in personal protective equipment (PPE),
devised comprehensive working practices and rolled out training to allow for a safe and secure environment for its people and
customers

Housing Market

The UK housing market is cyclical and its strength correlates closely with the general strength of the UK economy. Changes in house
prices and the volume of properties sold impact the results of the business. 2021 was an excellent year for the UK housing market with
record numbers of transactions, but the end of the stamp duty holiday, the continuing Covid-19 pandemic and geo-political uncertainty
could impact market sentiment and transaction levels. However, the Board believes that the medium to long term outlook for the UK
housing market remains positive, driven partially by the ongoing imbalance between the demand for properties against the available
supply and the availability of affordable mortgage finance.

The Board continues to review leading indicator KPls and other macro-econemic data regularly, in order that appropriate action s taken
to manage short term market uncertainties whilst ensuring that the Group. through its diversified business model, is well positioned to
capitalise when market conditions change far the hetter. The Board, through regular stress testing, also ensures that the Group
maintains sufficient resources to withstand a severe downturn in the UK housing market.

Competitors

The Group operates in a number of markets where traditional operating models are often challenged, particularly in the digital/online
space. Failure to adapt and respond could lead fo a falf in market share and, consequently, revenue.

The Group continues to monitor changing trends in the markets in which it operates and, as noted above, will continue to invest in both
its systems and people so that it can address any relevant changes to customers’ behaviour and expectations. The Graup firmly
beligves that its strengths lig in providing customers with high quality face to face advice, across a range of services, from an extensive
local High Street presence and will continue o strengthen its proposition to ensure customers continue to receive excellent customer
service.

Regulatory Compliance

The Group's businesses operate acrass a number of regulatory environments, which change and evolve rapidly. Failure to comply with
current or fulure regulatory requirements could result in regulatory censure, fings or enforcement action which would impact on the
Group's ability to carry out certain activities.

The business continually develops its focus on conduct risk, customer outcomes, and compliance within the regulated part of its
business to reflect industry best practice. The Group provides extensive training to and supervision of its operational teams, supported
by centralised compliance and risk teams which closely monitor existing business activities and assess proposed new developments.
A robust camplaints handling process exists, with root cause analysis being fed back into operational activities.

IT Infrastructure and information security

The Group depends on afficient systems for its day to day operations and maintenance of its financial records. A significant
interruption to its IT services, or breach of data security, would have an adverse impact on the ability to trade. The Group's systems
coutd also be subject to the increasing risk of a cyber-atfack.

The Group continues to invest in its IT and data security systems to ensure that ifs systems adequately support its expanding
operations and address the changing needs of the business. Regular penetration and business recovery testing is carried out. Training
is provided to ali colleagues to advise them of good security procedures and data protection requirements.
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ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021
Group Strategic Report (contnued)
Risks and uncertainties (continued)

Provisions for liabilities

Tre previous downturn ir the UK housing market caused the Group to experence an increase in profess:onal irdemmity rsurance
clagms against &, particutarly within its survey and vauation businesses. however current incidence of new claims remains low

Robust training. supervision and quailty assurance processaes exist amed at reducing the likely incidence of such clairs n the future
Currert outstanding claims continue to te well maraged oy an experienced team and the Group carres an aporoonate levei of
Professional Indemaity Insurance cover

Details of the provision for professionat nderreity irsurance haohties other provisions and cont.ngent iabilities are set out r note 20t
the financiai statements
Loss of a inajor client

Several of the Group's businesses hold a number of important clent relat:iorships the loss of which woud adversely affect thair incoma
and performance

Each business carries out regular review meetings with chents at all tevels of management, any I1ssues should thereforz be :dentified
and escalated at an early stage

Financial misstaternent and fraud

Matenal financial misstatement ansing due to an error or fraud could cause reputational damage financial loss or lead to wappropriate
decisicn making

The Group's financial controls, mncluding segregation of duties are desigred to cperate throughout the business to address this nsk
These controls are supplemented by comprerersive montorrg of financial performance 1o budget and gxpectations at a cost centra
level

Capital
in comman with other businesses in the secter. the Group s relatively mghiy operanonally geared Trading performanca s senstive to

transaction volumes in the UK residential nousing market In the short term certam costs are fixed so that when :ncome fals there s a
direct and adverse impact on profits and cash flows

The Group's policy is to retain sufficert cash and capital resources to aflow  to withstand market voiatifity and achieve J{s carporate
objectives

Peaple

Estate agency 1s very much a people business As such. the Group 1s rehant on the abiity traiming. skills and mctivation of s peopie
A key risk to the business s the possbilty of losing pecple particularly senior managers who have extensive knowledge and
experience

In ocrder to combat this the Board 2nsures that service agreemerts remureration packages 3and human rescurces policies are
constantly reviewed

Customers

The Group is firmly committed to delivenng good outcomes for all customers  This means ensuring that the range of products and
services offered meet the needs of customers that the 'end to end’ processes for delivering these services are appropnate and
effactive and that our pecople have cur customars’ best intarests at heart at all imes  We take steps ta develop and mantain this
athos within the culture of the business overall

By crder of the hoard

Z( /&w:j

DC Livasey
Director

17 March 2022
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Connelis Limited
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE STRATEGIC REPORT, THE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent company financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
the Directors have elected to prepare the group and the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK adopted
International Accounting Standards and as regards to the parent company financia! statemenls, as applied in accordance with section
408 of the Companies Act 2006.

Under company faw the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the group and the company and of the profit or loss of the group and the company for that period. In preparing
these financial statements the directors are required ta:

. select suitable accounting policies in accordance with [AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
and then apply them consistently;

. make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

+  present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable
information;

. provide additiona! disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs is insufficient to enable users 0
understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the group and company financial position and
firancial performance;

J in respect of the group financial statements, state whether UK accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements,

. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is appropriate to presume that the company and/ or the
group will not continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adeguate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company's and
group's transactions and disclose with reasanable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent company and enable them
to ensure that the company and the group financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the group and parent company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also responsible for preparing a strategic report and directors’ report,that
comply with that law and those regulations. The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and
financial information included on the company's website.

The directors confirm, to the best of their knowledge:

= that the consolidated financial statements, prepared in accordance with UK adopted International accounting standards in
confarmity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financiat pasition
and profit of the parent company and undertakings inctuded in the consolidation taken as a whole;

+ that the annual report, including the strategic report, includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business
and the position of the company and undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties that they face; and

* that they consider the annual report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the company's position, performance, business model and strategy.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CONNELLS LIMITED

Opinion

We nave audted the financial statements of Connells Limited { the parent company | ard ts subsidianes {the ‘group) for the year
anded 31 December 2021 which comprise the Group Income Statement. the Group and Parert ompany Balarce Sheet. Group
Statermen of Cash Flows the Group statement of Comprehensive Income. the Group ard Parant Statement of Changes in Equity and
the ralated notes 110 29, wcludirg a summary of sigrificant accounting policies The firanciat reporting framework that has been
applied i their preparation s applicable law and UK adopted Inteinational Accounting Slandards and as regards to the parent company
financial statements as appled 10 accordance with section 408 of the Compames Act 2206

In aur spinien

. the financial statements give a true ard fair wiew of the group's and of the parent cecmpany 3 affars as at 31 Cecember 2021 and
of the group s prof t for the year then ended,

. the group finarcial statements hava been properly prepared in accordance with UK adcptad intarratonal Accounung Standards

. tre pa~ent company financiai statements have been properly prepared n accordance with UK adopted Internaticnal Accounting
Standards as applied it accordance with section 408 of the Comparies Act 2006, and

. the financial statements have been prapared in accordance with the requirerrents of the Companes Act 2006

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with irternational Standards on Audiing (UK 18As (UK;) ard appicadle law Qur
responsibilites under those standards are further described in the Auditor s respansititlities for the audit of the finranciatl statements
section of our rapen We are independent of the group in accardance with the etical requirements that are refevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK. including the FRC's Ethical Standard as appiied to cther enutes of pubnc interest and we have fulfifed
our other athical responsbilites in accordance with these requirements

We beileve that the audit evidence ~e have obtamned s sufficient and agpropnate to srovide 3 basis for our opinion

Conclusions retating to going concern

Ir. auditing the financial statemants, we have concluded that the direciors’ use of the gairg corcern pasis of accounting in the
graparation of the financial statements 1s agpropnate Our evaluation of the directars assessment of the group and parent company's
ability to continue to adopt the gaing concern basis of accounting included

[ In conjuncticn with our walktirough of the Group's financial zlose process. we confirned our understanding of maragement s
Gaing Concerr assessment process and also engaged with managament early 1o ensure all key factors vare considerad i
their assessment.

. We sbtained management s going concern assessment, including the cash forecasts for the Jaing concern penod up to
December 2023 The Group has modelled adverse scenanes ir ther cash forecasts in order to incorperate unexpected
changes to the forecasted liquidity of the Group

. We considered the appraprateness of the methods used to caiculate the cash forecasts and determined through inspection
ard testing of the methadelagy and calculatians that the methads utilised were apcropriately sophisticated to be able to make
an assessment for the entity

«  We considered the mitigating factors nciuded in the cash forecasts that are within controi of the Group This includes review
of the Company's non-gperating cash outfiows. payments of dividends and evaluating the Company’s ability to control these
cutflows as mitigating actions if required

. We have performed reverse stress testing in order to identify what factors would lead to the Group utilsing all igu:dity dunrg
the going concern period

. We read the Group's going concemn disclosures included in the annuat report in arder to assess that the disciosures were
approprate and in conformity with the reporting standards

Based on the work we have performed. we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events ar conditions that.
individually or celtectively may cast sigrificant doubt on the group and parent company's abiity te continue as a going cencerm far a
pernod to December 2023

Our responsipdities and the responsibiliies of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this

report However. because not all future events or conditions can be predicted. this statement 13 not a guarantee as to the group s
ability to continue as a going concern
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Other information

The other infarmation comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor's
report therean. The directars are responsibie for the other information contained within the annual report

Qur opinton on the financial statements does not cover the other information and. excapt to the extent otheraise axplicitly stated in this
report, we do not express any farm of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to reaa the gther infarmation and. in deing so. consider whether the other Informatior 1$ materially inconsistent with
the financia! statements or our knowledge obtaned in the course of the audit or otherwise appears to be matenally misstated If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements we are requirad to deterrmine whether this gives rise ta a
material misstatement in the financial statements themseives. If. based on the work we have performed. we conclude that there is a
materal misstatemert of the other information. we are required to report that fact.

Ve have nothing ‘e repon in this regard

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

. the information given in the strategic report and the directers’ report far the financial year for which the financial statements are
preparad is consistent with the financial statements: and

. the sirategic reoort and diractors’ seport have been orepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and undarstanding of the group and the parent compary and its envircnment abtained ' the <ourse of the
audit, we have not dentified material misstatements in the strategic repon or directors’ “eport

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Compan'es Act 2006 requires us to report to you If

in our cpinion.

. adequate accounting records have "ot been kept by the parant company or returns adequate far our aud.t have not been
recewved from brarches not visited by us or

. the parent company finaroar statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and raturns: or

. cenrtain disclosures of directors’ remuneranon specfied by law are not made or

. we have not received a:l the information and explanations we require for our audit

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fuily 'n the directors respensibilities statemant set cut on page 11. tne directars are respansibie ‘or the preparation
of the firanciai stater-erts and for bewng satsfied that they give a true and fair view and far such intarnal contral as the directors
determine is necessary to enatle the preparation of inancial statements that are free from material misstatement. whethar due to fraud
or error

In preparing the financiai staterrents, the directors are responsibie for assessing the group’s and the parert company's ability to
continue as a going concern_ disclosirg. as applicable. matters related to going concern and using the gaing cencern bas:s of
actounting unless the directors either intend to liguidate the group or tre parent company or 10 cease operations ar have no realistic
aitemative but to do so

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objectives are o obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes cur opinion Reasonabie assurance is a mgh
level of assurance. but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will aways detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements car arise from fraud or errer and are considered material if. individually or in the aggregate
they could reascrably be expected to irfluence the economic decisions of users taken on the basfs of these firancral statements

Explanation as to what axtent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irragularities. including fraud. are instances of non-comphance with Jaws and regulations We design pracedures n line with our
responsibilites. autlined above to detect irrequiarities. inciuding fraud. The nisk of not detecting a material misstaternert due to fraud s
higher than the risi of not detecting ane resufting fram errar as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by for example, forgery or
intentionat misrepresentations. or through coliusion. The extent ta which our procedures are capabtie of detecting irregularities,
including fraud is detailed beiow However the primary responsibility for the prevention ard detection of fraud rests with both those
charged with governance of the entity and management.

We obtained an understanding of the legai and regulatory frameworks that are appiicable to the company and determined that the most
sigrificant are’ The Estates Agents Act 2019, The Consumer Rights Act 2015, The Consumers. Estate Agents and Redress Act 2007
International Accounting Standards, Companies Act 2006. Data Protection Act 1898, Healtn and Safety at Work Act 1974, HMRC
regulations. The Coronavirus Act 2020 Functions of Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs {Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme), UK
Bribery Act, Equality Act and Anti-Money Laundering Regulations.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CONNELLS LIMITED (Continued)

e oblained an understanding of the tegal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable o the company and determined that
the mest significant are The Estates Agents Act 2019 The Consumer Rights At 2015, The Consumers, Estate Agents

and Redress Act 2007, Infernational Accounting $tandards, Companies Act 2006, Nata Pratection Act 1898, Heatth and Safaty
al Work Act 1974, HMRC regulaticns, The Coronavirus Act 2020 Functions of Her Majesty’'s Revenue and Customs
iCoronavirus Job Retention Scheme). UK Bribary Act, Equality Act and Anti-Maoney Laundering Regulations.

. ‘We understond how Connells L.mited is zomplying vith those frameworks by making enguiries of those charged »ith
governance and management. 'We understood the potential ‘ncentive and
ability to override he controis, We considerad maragement's attitude and tone from the top ta embed a culture of honesty
and ethieal behav our wheredy a streng emphasis s placed on fraud prevention which may reduce opporunities for fraud
to take place. Ve further understoad the adaption of accounting standards and considered the compliarce with the above
imas,

. We assassed the susceplibilly of *he Group and Company's financiat statements o matedal misstaternent. including now
fraud mught oceur by ohlaining and reacing internal policies. holding enquines of management and those shargad aih
governance and the in-house legal counsel as to anv fraud risk framewosrk withun the entity,

. Based on this unaerstanding we designed our audit procedures to identify noncompiance with such laws and regulations.
Our procadures involved

+  Enguiny of management and those charged with gavernance as to any fraud risk framework within the antity,
includir g whether a formal fraud risk assessment s complated

. Enguiry of managemant, those charged with governance and the entity s in-house legal team araund actunl and
potential litigation and claims.

D Enquiry of entity staff in tax and compliance functions to identify any instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations, including commurications with regulalors and tax autharities.

. Reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governanca,

. Reading internal aadit reports.

. Enguin, of management over reports to vhistlsblowing hotlines.

. Readny financtal statement disclosures and testing o supporting documentation (o assess comphance ‘with
apphcasle laws and regulations,

+  Auditing the risk of management ovarrde of controls, mcluding through testing journal entries and other
adjustrrents for appropriatenass.

. Where veaknesses in internal contral 'n respect of cash were dentified wa:

. incraasad the sample sizes n respect of our substantive audit testing:

l performiad additicnal testing with resnect 1o completeness of batances and cul-off tasting for
transactions occurning around the year =nd; and

. increasad samples of risk bas=d journals and matenal post-clesing adjusiments, agreeing them o
agpraprate supporting avidenne.

. Where nstances of non-compliance #ith faws and reguiations vere ‘dentified we assessed and challenged
management's response, involving sgeciaists. where required. to consider the apprepriateness of the response
and the conclus.ons reachad.

. Data analytics ta highiight patentially anemalous transactions in areas of the business which are determined to
have an elavated ‘raud risk

. Evaluating the business rationale of significant transactlions outside the normal course of business, and.

+  Challenjing judgements made by managament, Tius included -orroborating the inputs and considering
contradictory evidznce,

A further description of aur responsibilities for the audit of the firancial statements is located an the
Financial Reporting Council's website at hitps:, www fre.org.uk auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
auditor's report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company s members, as a bady. in accordance with Chapler 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006, Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those matters we are requirsd o
staie to them in an auditer’'s repert and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law. we da not accept or assuma
raspansibility, to apyone other than the company and the compary s members as a bady, for our audit work. for this repart, or for
the opinions ve have formad.

e+ loung L

R.th Logan ' Senior Stattory Auditory
for and an Lehalf of Errst & Young LLP,

Cambridge

H-H,\ﬁ Mosthh 2022
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Connells Limited
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

Group Income Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes Year Year
endad ended
2021 2020
£000 £000
Revenue 3 999,460 375,031
Other operating income 6 3,077 1,402
Employee benefit expenses 7 (597,914} (222,360)
Other operating expenses 2 {316,344) {104,020)
Operating profit 88,279 50,053
Presented as:
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, 181,066 80,505
amortisation, impairment and contingent
consideration
Depreciation of tangible assets 2,10 (8,562) (8,503)
Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 12 {26,412) (14,752)
Amoartisation and impairment of intangibles " (59.729) (5.678)
Fair value changes in financial instruments held at FYTPL 14 1,916 (63)
Impairment of investments 13 - (1.456)
Operating profit 88,279 50,053
Finance income 4 394 441
Finance costs 5 (7.101) (1,668)
Net financing costs (6,707 (1.227)
Group share of profit after tax in joint ventures 13 1,237 3364
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (662) (391)
Profit on Disposal of Investments 24 2,256 -
Fair value gains on step acquisitions of Group 24 26,921 -
undertakings
Profit before tax 111,324 51,799
Taxation 8 (16,496) (10,864)
Profit for the year 84,828 40,935

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 94,716 40,935
Non-Contralling Interest 112 -
94,828 40,935

The Group had no material discontinued operations in the current year or preceding year.

The notes on pages 21 to 73 form part of these financial statements.
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Connells Limited

ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Group Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income/ (expense):
Items that will not be reclassifind subsequently to profit or loss:
Actuarial gain/(loss) on retirement benefit obligations 23

Tax on actuarial gain/ (loss) on retirement benefit obligations
- deferred tax (charge) credit 15
- Current tax credit

Exchange differences arising on retranslation of foreign
operations

Other comprehensive income/ (expense) for the year {net of income tax)

Totai comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Cempany
Non-Cantrolling Interest

The notes on pages 21 to 73 form part of these financial statements.
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31 December 2021

Year Year
ended ended
2021 2020
£000 £000
94,828 40,935
11,541 (8.452)
{2,356) 2,120
1,445 250

g -
10,639 (6,082)
105,467 34,853
105,355 34,853
112 -
105,467 34,853




Connells Limited
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021
Group Statement of Financial Position

Al 31 December 2021

31 Decamber 2021 31 December 2020
£000 £000 £000 E£000
Notes

Non-current assets
Property plant ard squipment 12 32,829 30173
Intangibie assets 11 290 509 100,624
Right-of-use assets 12 B0.161 43,388
Investments 1 9.473% 13,264
Financial assets t4 12,779 3.284
Deferred tax assets 153 14.796 11065
Retirement Denefit asset 23 1.244 -
Total non-current assets 441 780 207 332
Current assets
Trade and other recewvables 18 105.853 37.856
Cash and cash equivalents 17 119,057 103,053
Total current assets 224.710 140,943
Total assets 666,500 148,281
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 153.362 59 903
Tax liabilities 344 1,757
Prowisions 2c 21.488 11813
Lease liabilties 15 23807 13.7C5
Total current liabilities 213 801 84 178
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payabies 13 133 882 5.575
Provis.ons 20 '3 380 3,142
Retirement benefit obligation 23 12.873 45.307
Lesse liabilities 13 74 305 34.443
Total non.current liabilities 234 843 91,483
Total liabilities 448 541 175 548
Equity - attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share capnal 21 1 1
Share pramium 21 25383 25,988
Capital redemption reserve 21 3.000 3.000
Transiation reser/e 21 9 -
Retained garnings 21 188.529 143,648
Non-controlling Interest 21 332 -
Total equity 217,859 172.835
Total equity and liabilities 666.50¢ 348,281

Thase accounts were approved by the Boarg of Directors on 17 Marzh 2022 and sigred on its behatf by

Z C &tpq/\‘ .
DC Livesey Ny
Dirgctar

Company registration number 031373394

The notes on pages 21 to 73 form part of thase accounts.
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Connells Limited

ANNUAL REFORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Company Statement of Financial Position

Al 31 December 2021

Notes
Non-current assets
Propery. piant and equipment 12
tntangible assets 1"
Right-of-use assets 12
tvestrents 13
Financial assets 14
Deferred tax assets 15
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Trade and other raceivables 15
Cash and cash equivalents 17
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13
Provisions 20
Lease labilities 19
Tax habilities
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and cthes payabies 13
Provisions 20
Lease liabilities 13
Retrrement benefit obligation 2.

Total non-current liabilities

Totai liabilities

Equity - attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share captal 21
Share premium 21
Capital redemption reserve 21
Retained =sarnings 21
Total equity

Total equity and liabilities

31 December 2021

£000 £000
5 384
3779
166
257 143
12,554
6375
285 901
45,758
72327
113085
405,986
81953
1684
63
1.899
35,669
129773
941
19
12.973
143806
229 415
1
25 328
3.000
147 532
176 57!
405,986

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

£000 £000
6 954
3720
128 736
8071
9172
155 712
13,232
L 77.032
50.264
246.977
57 400
1633
507
59 540
2,063
923
45307
48293
107 833
1
25 988
3000
. 10ss )
139 144
246,977

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption allowed under section 408 of the Companies Act (20C6) and nas not prasanted
its own income statement i these financial statements  The total comprehensive income for the year was £97 499 500 (2020

£21 966 000}

These accounts were approved by the Board of Directars on 17 Marcr 2022 and signed on ts tehalf by

2 C A,

DC Livesey
Director

Comgany registration number G3187394

The notes on pages 21 to 73 form part of these accounts



Connells Limited
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021
Statements of Changes in Equity

Far the year ended 31 December 2021

Group
Capital Non-
Share Share redemption Retained Controlling Translation Total
capital premium raserve earnings Interest Reserve equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 1 January 2021 1 25,988 3,000 143,646 - - 172,635
Total comprehensive income for - ~ - 105,346 112 9 105,467
the vear
Dividends to shareholders - - - {60,000} - - {60.000)
Acquisition of non-contrelling
interests without a change in - - - (463) - - {483}
control
Non-controlling interest arising on
recognition of subsidiary
undertakings with less than 100% - - - - 220 - 220
control
Balance at 31 December 2021 1 25,988 3,000 188,529 332 9 217,859
Capital
Share Share redemptio Retained Non- Translation Total
capital premium n reserve earnings Controlling Reserve equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 Interest £000 £000
£000
Balance at 1 January 2020 1 25,988 3.000 128,793 - - 157,782
Total comprehensive income for - - - 34,853 - - 34,853
the year
Dividends to sharehoiders - - - {20,000) - - {20.000)
Balance at 3t December 2020 1 25,988 3,000 143,646 - - 172,635
Company
Capital
Share Share redemption Retained Tatal
capital premium resarve earnings equity
£000 £000 £Q00 £000 ERQo
Balance at 1 January 2021 1 25,088 3,000 110,155 139,144
Total comprehensive income for the - - - 97,427 97,499
year
Dividends to shareholders - - - {60,000} {60,000}
Batance at 31 December 2021 1 25,988 3,000 147,582 176,571
Capital
Share Share redemption Retained Total
capital premium resarve earnings aquity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 1 January 2020 1 25,988 3.000 108,169 137.178
Total comprehensive income for the - - - 21,966 21,966
year
Dividends to sharehelders - - - {20.000) (20,000)
Balance at 31 December 2020 1 25,988 3,000 110,155 139,144

The notes on pages 21 to 73 form part of these accounts.
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ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

Group Statement of Cash Flows

Note Year Year
Cash flows from operating activities ended ended
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Profit for the year 94,828 48,935
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and impairment of tangible assets 10 8,562 8,503
Depreciation and impairment of ROU assets 12 26,412 14,752
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 2,1 59,729 5,678
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 {445) (163)
Impairment of joint ventures - 1,456
Finance income 4 (394) (441)
Share of profit of joint ventures 13 (1,237 (3,3R4)
Finance cxpenze 5 7.101 1.668
Dividends paid to non-contralling interests 662 391
Tax expense 8 16,496 10,864
Fair value changes in financial instruments held at FVTPL 8 (1,916} 63
Past service costs on pensions 23 - 81
Fair value gains on step acquisitions of Group undertakings 24 (26,921} -
Profit on disposal of equity investments 24 (2.256) -
Operating profit before changes in working capital and provisions 180,621 81,153
Contributions to defined benefit pension schemes 23 (24,880} (2,880}
Decrease in trade receivables 12123 2,809
Decrease/ (increase} in prepayments and other receivables 10,829 (1,291}
Increase/ (decrease) in trade and other payables (6.122) 4,539
Increase in provisions (1.849) (4,515)
Cash inflow from operations 170,722 79,815
Tax paid (19.498) {(13,305)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 151,224 66,510
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 394 441
Interest paid (4,832) -
Dividends received from joint ventures 13 2,139 1,175
Purchases of shares in subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 24 (122,720) -
Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries 58,698 -
Proceeds on sale of investment 8175 -
Purchases of shares in assets held at FVTPL 6 (448) (150)
Purchases of business assets, net of cash acquired 24 {205} (1,490)
Purchases of computer software 11 {4,055} (1.235)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 10 (7,541} (4.601)
Praceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,209 1,017
Net cash (outflow} from investing activities (69,186} {4,843)
Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (40,372) (13,931)
Dividends paid to parent undertaking 9 (60,000) (20,000}
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (662) {391)
Loan advanced by ultimate parent undertaking 253,000 -
External term and revolving facility loans repaid {93,000} -
Loan repayments to ultimate parent undertaking (125,000) -
Net cash (outfiow) from financing activities {66,034) {34,322)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 16,004 27,345
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 103,053 75,708
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 119,057 103,053

The nates on pages 21 to 73 form part of these accounts.
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Connells Limited
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.  Accounting policies

Connells Limited (the “Company”) is a Company incorporated, registered and damiciled in the UK. The following accounting policies
have been applied consistently in these Group and Company financial statements:

a) Basis of accounting

Both the Company and the Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with UK
adopted International Accounting Standards and as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with
section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and effective as at 31 December 2021. In publishing the Parent Company financial statements
here, together with the Group financial statements, the Company is taking advantage of the exemption in section 408 of the Companies
Act 2006 not to present its individual income Statement and Statement of Cash Flows and related notes that form a part of these
approved financial statements. The amount of the profit for the year dealt with in the financial statements of Connells Limited is
disclosed in the Statement of Changes in Equity in these financial statements.

Adoption of new and revised UK Financial Reperting Standards

During the year, the Group adopted the following amendment to exisling accounting standards, which did not have a material impact on
these financial statements:

*« COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 {Amendment to IFRS 16}
Standards issued but not yet effective

A number of new and amended accounting standards and interpretations will be effective for future reporting periods, none of which
has been early adgpted by the Groug in preparing these financial statements. These new and amended standards and interpretations,
details of which are set out betow, are not expected to have a material impact on the Group's financial statements:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts;

Ciassification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments lo 1AS 1),

Onerous Contracts — Casts of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37);

Fees in the 10 per cent' test for derecognition of financial iabilities (Amendments 1o IFRS 9);

Definition of Accounting Estimates {Amendments to IAS 8);

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2); and

Deferred Tax Related ta Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to 1AS 12).

s &8 8 & & & 0

These amendments have had no material impact on these Financial Statements.
Measurement convention

These financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis as modified for certain financial assets which are recorded at fair
value. Judgements made by the Directors, in the application of these accounting policies that have significant effect on the financial
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year, are discussed in section q.

Currgncy presentation

These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling and, except where otherwise indicated, have been rounded to the nearest
one thousand pounds. The functional currency is pounds sterling.

Going concern

The Directors have undertaken a thorough assessment of the Group's financial farecasts to 3t December 2023, including the
continuing impact of Covid-19 on its operations within the UK. 2021 was an excellent year for the UK housing market in terms of
number of transactions, and the Group’s ability to capitalise on the favourable market conditions enabled it to report a significantly
increased profit for the year.

On 8 March 2021 the Group took out a £253.0m lean fram Skipton Building Society, its ultimate parent undertaking, in order to fund the
acquisition of Countrywide plc (“Countrywide”™). The loan provided the capital to acquire Countrywide, settle the existing debt within
Countrywide and enable substantial investment and working capital for the Group. The strong trading during the year has allowed the
Group to repay £125.0m of the capital balance of the foan prior to the year end, and the outstanding liability at the year end is £128.2m.
There are no covenants attached to the loan,

The Group is also funded by its operating profits and the cash thereby generated. For the year ended 31 December 2021 the Group
repored a net profit before tax of £111.3m (2020: £51.8m) and at 31 December 2021 had cash balances amounting to £119.1m (2020:
£133.1m}, even after paying dividends totaling £60 Om (2620: £20.0m) to its shareholders and the loan repayments of £125.0m above.
At the date of signing these accounts, the Group continues to hold a substantial working cash balance of £97.7m (2020: £93.6m).

The Group has modelled downturn scenarios as detailed below, which include mitigating actions including reducing headcount, capital
and other discretionary spend. As a result of the modelling, the Directors have deemed it appropriate to continue to adopt the going
concem basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements of the Group and Company for the year ended 31 December
2021,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1. Accounting policies (continued)
a) Basis of accounting (continued)

The Directors have also performed extensive stress testing to model potential market shocks, including any continuing or worsening
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, , and their potential impact on business volumes. in particular the Diractors have considered and
modelled a number of severe but plausible scenarios. including the impact of a material downturn in the UK housing market caused by
the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic or other political and economic circumstances. The key assumptions used in this severe stress
scenario are as follows:
- UK housing market transactions fall to the levels seen in the 2008 financial crisis , the lowest on record, a decline of over
30% on the base scenario. This would have a proportionate impact on most revenue streams as volumes decline.
House price deflation of 30%.
- Mitigating actions to reduce headcount, capital expenditure and marketing spend.
- No government support has been assumed to be available, but any support available would likely be utilised and improve the
liquidity position further.

The results from such stress testing indicate that the Group would be able to withstand the financial impact, The Group’s financial
strength means that it is well positioned to withstand such a downturn.

A reverse stress test has also been performed, which required a significantly deeper and prolonged downturn for the Group to exceed
available funds, which the Directors consider to be remote. Were this unlikely situation to occur then there are further actions available
and within the control of management to reduce costs and manage liquidity.

As a result of the above and following careful consideration, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the annual financial statements.

Put options

As part of the Group’s acquisition strategy, there are a number of subsidiaries where the Group owns less than 100% of the share
capital where there exists options for Non-controlling shareholders to sell their shares to the Company at some future date. In line with
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and common accounting practice, the Group's accounting policy for these
transactions is to recognise the present value of Non-controlling shareholders’ options as a financial obligation, along with the
recognition of a further increase in the cost of investment. Under this accounting policy the Group consolidates 100% of the results of
such subsidiaries to reflect the 100% ownership implicit in the recording of the future purchase of the Non-controlling interests’
remaining shareholdings.

b) Basis of consolidation

The Group's annual financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiary undertakings and
include the Group's share of the results and post-acquisition reserves of its subsidiary undertakings. All Group undertakings prepare
their financial statements to 31 December annually.

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting has been adopted. Under this method, the results of subsidiary undertakings acquired or
disposed of during the period are included in the Group Income Statement from the date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal.

The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired. Any
goodwitl that arises is tested annually for impairment. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related o the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts are
generally recognised in profit or loss, Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation
to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not re-measured and
seftlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is re-measured at fair value at each reporting date
and subsequent changes in the fair value of the conlingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

In instances where the Group holds a small shareholding initially, an acquisition may be achieved in stages, a ‘step acquisition’. On the
date at which controf is obtained, the fair value of the Group's existing interest in the entity is assessed against its carrying value, with
the resulting gain or loss being recognised in the Income Statement. The results after control has been achieved are accounted for
under the acquisition method of accounting.

Subsidiaries and joint ventures

in the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less provision for any permanent
diminution in value. Dividends received and receivable are credited to the Company's Income Statement to the extent they represent a
realised profit for the Company.

A joint venture is an undertaking in which the Group has a long term interest and over which it exercises joint control and has an
interest in the net assets of the undertaking. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method and are initially recognised at
cost. The Group’s share of the profits of joint ventures is included in the Group Income Statement and its interest in the net assets is
included in investments in the Group Statement of Financial Position. See note 13 for further details.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)
1. Accounting policies (continued)
Non-Controlling Interest

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group's equity therein. Those interests of non-controlling
shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation may
initially be measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests are initially
measured at fair value. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at
initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Comparny and to the nen-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
contralling interests having a deficit balance.

Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related non-
contralling interest and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
the farmer subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated.

c) Revenue recognition

Revenue, which exciudes value added tax, represents the total invoiced sales of the Group and is recognised as foilows:

. Estate Agency sales commissions, new homes, land sales and auctions income is recognised on the date contracts are
exchanged unconditionally, at which point all performance obligations are considered to have been fulfilled. Invoices are usually
payable on completion.

. Commission earned from property lettings is recognised when the underlying service has been performed, including tenant
introduction, rent collection or full property management. Invoices are usually payable immediately when the rent or fee is
collected from the tenant.

. Revenue from maortgage procuration fees is recognised on completion of the mortgage transaction, which is when all contractuai
abligations have been fuffilled. An element of mortgage services income has been assessed as transferred over time, in line with
the performance obligations in the contract.

. Insurance commission income is recognised upon fulfilment of contractual obligations as part of the mortgage process, being
when the insurance policy is put an rsk; less a pravision for expected future clawback repayment in the event of early termination
by the customer.

*  Survey & Valuation revenue is recognised on the date that the survey or valuation report is completed, at which point ail
performance obligations are considered to have completed. Revenue and costs are recognised gross of sub-contracted panel
fees.

*  Agset management commission eamed is accounted for on exchange of contracts and additional services are recognised upon
completion of work, recognised on a cost basis within contract assets; both of which are at the point all performance obligations
are considered to have completed.

*  All other income is recognised in line with when contractuat obligations have been met.

. Commissions earned on sales of commercial property are recognised at a point in time, upon the exchange of contracts for such
Sales.

d} Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the Statement of Financial Position at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is
charged so as to write off the cost of assets less their estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives at the following rates:

Leasehold premises - Qver the unexpired term of the lease in equal instalments
Freehold buildings - Lower of 50 years or estimated useful life of premises
Equipment, fixtures and fittings - 3to 10 years

Motor vehicles - 25% of net book value

All depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis, except motor vehicles, where the reducing balance method is used. Depreciation
methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)

1. Accounting policies {continued)

e) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiary undertakings or businesses represents the excess of the fair value of consideration
over the fair value of identifiable net assets and contingent liabilities acquired at the date of acquisition. A full assessment is performed
to align the accounting policies and fair value all the assets and liabilities, including valuing the intangible assets such as brands,
customer lists and sales pipelines. Goodwill is calculated after also taking into account the fair value of contingent liabilities of the
acquiree. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred and included in other operating expenses.

Where the Group acquires a majority sharebolding in a subsidiary, but grants the non-controlling interests an option to sell their shares
to the Group at some future date, on acquisition the Group estimates the fair value of the total consideration payable in calculating the
goodwill arising. In subsequent periods, for any put options written prior to the adoption of IFRS 3 (2008), any amendment to the
Group's cstimation of the fair value of lhie consideration remaining payable will result in a restatement in the goodwill. For any put
opticns written after the adoption of IFRS 3 (2008}, any amendments to the estimation of the fair value of the consideration payable are
recorded in profitloss. The put options in place and treatment of any changes in the value of the option are as follows as at 31
December 2021:

Company Accounting for changes in the value of the put option
The Asset Management Group Limited (AMG) Adjusted to goodwill

Sharman Quinney Holdings Limited Adjusted to goodwill

Gascoigne Halman Group Limited Recorded in the income statement

RMS Estate Agents Limited Recorded in the income statement

Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised directly in the Income Statement.

f) Intangible assets

Intangible assets include acquired customer contracts and relationships, brands, software development costs and purchased software
that in the opinion of the directors meets the definition of an intangible asset. Amortisation is charged to the Income Statement on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets. Intangible assets are amortised from the day they are available
for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Customer contracts and relationships - 1to 10 years
Computer software - 3105 years
Brand - Indefinite

Finite life intangible assets are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisalion period and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

g) Impairment

In accordance with IAS 36, impairment of Assets, goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life are not amortised but are tested
for impairment at each year end or when there is an indication of impairment. The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of
its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

The Group applies discount rates based on its weighted average cost of capital, which is adjusted to take account of the market risks
associated with each cash generating unit. impairment is recognised where the present value of future cash flows of the subsidiary is
less than its cairying value. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goadwill allocated to the units, and then ta reduce the carrying amounts of the other
assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

Any impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. On the sale of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on sale is calcutated after
charging or crediting the net book value of any related goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

1. Accounting policies (continued)

h)  Neon-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity, trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and trade
and other payables.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at their nominal amount, discounted if material, less impairment losses.

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs). The Group takes a simplified approach and recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group uses a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and economic environment. This is applied to third party and
intercompany receivables and cash balances.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at their fair value on initial recognition and then subsequently carried at amortised cost.
Financial assets

Investments in equity securities held by the Company are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Any resuitant gain or loss is
recognised in the income statement in line with IFRS 9. Where the fair value cannot be reliably measured the investments are carried
at cost less impairment.

Investments - Company

Investments in jointly controlled entities and subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment. The cost of investment arising on the
acquisition of subsidiary undertakings or businesses comprises the consideration paid and the fair value of the put option obligation to
acquire any non-controlling interest, when such an option exists. Subsequent re-estimates of the market value or the expected exercise
date of the option are camied cut by management. This results in an annual revaluation of the put option element of the cost of
investment (see note 13). The Company regularly reviews its subsidiary investments for objective evidence of impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash comprises cash in hand and loans and balances with banks and similar
institutions. Cash and cash equivalents comprise highly liquid investments which are convertible into cash with an insignificant risk of
changes in value with original maturities of three months or less. The Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared using the indirect
method.

iy Employee benefits

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Group has two defined henefit
schemes, the Connells (2014) Group Pension Scheme and the Countrywide plc Pension Scheme, both of which are closed to future
benefit accrual.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of the Schemes is calculated by estimating the armount of future benefit that employees have
earmed in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine jts present value, and the fair
value of any plan assets (at bid price) and any unrecognised past service costs are deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the
reporting date on AA credit rated bonds denominated in the currency of, and having maturity dates approximating to, the terms of the
Group's obligations. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

An asset can be recognised as in the event of a plan wind-up, the pension scheme rules provide the Group with an unconditional right
to a refund of surplus assets assuming a full settlement of plan liabilities. In the ordinary course of business, the Trustees have no
rights to wind-up. or change, the benefits due to the members of the scheme. As a result, any net surplus in the UK defined benefit
scheme is recognised in full.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit asset/Miability. Contributions are transferred to the
Trustee on a regular basis to secure the benefits provided under the rules of the Schemes. The Group recognises alf actuarial gains
and losses directly into equity through the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period they occur.

Defined contribution plans
The Group also operates a number of defined contribution pension plans. A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit
plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into 2 separate entity and will have no legal aor constructive obligation to pay

further amounts  Contributions are charged to the Income Statement as they become payable, in accordance with the rules of the
various schemes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)

1. Accounting policies (continued)

i) Employee Benefits (continued)

Short term benefits

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and expensed as the related service is provided. A
liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short term cash bonus or profit sharing plans if the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be
astimated reliably.

j} Leases

The Granp's leasa commitments relate mainly to properties and nwlu vehicles. Leases are typically negobated on an individual basis
and thus contain a wide range of terms and conditions, including options to extend or terminate. The lease liability is considered to be
an indicator of the future cash outflows, there are no significant restrictions or covenants, residual value guarantees or sale and
leaseback transactions. Previously, payments made under operating leases were charged to the income staterment on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease.

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. The Group initially recognises a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-
measurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets is equal to the aggregate lease liabilities recognised on day 1, adjusted
for any initial direct costs incurred, any lease incentives received and any lease payments made at or before the commencement date.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the lease term. Right of use assets are tested for impairment at each
year end.

Al the commencement date of the lease, the Group recagnises lease liabilities measured at the present value of the lease payments to
be made over the lease term, discounted at the incremental borrowing rate. The lease payments include fixed payments less any
lease incentives received and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. In calculating the present value of the
lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date as the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. Following recognition, the liability is reduced for the lease payments made and increased by the
interest accrued. Moreover, the carrying amount of the lease liability is re-measured in the event of a modification, such as a change in
the lease term or ¢change in the lease payments. The interest cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining liability for each period.

The Group applies the short-term lease exemption to those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and also applies the exemption for leases of low value assets to office equipment. Lease payments relating to
these exemptions are recognised in operating expenses on a straight line basis over the lease term. These exemptions are not applied
to property leases and any short term property leases are accounted for as above.

During 2020 the Group adopted the IFRS 16 amendment, recogrising short term rent concessions relating to the Covid pandemic
direct in the income statement, and not recalculating the right of use asset or lease liability. The impactin the year was not material.

k) Provisions for liabilities and charges

A provision is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the Group has a present, legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can
be reliably measured. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate
that reftects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

1}  Taxation

Income tax on the profits for the year comprises current tax and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the Income Statement
except where items are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in which case the associated income tax asset or liability is
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable profit for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the year
end, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. It is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the periods in which temporary differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on
the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. {f the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a
deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on
the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1. Accounting policies {continued)

)] Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each year end and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at each year end and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

m) Net financing costs

Interest income and interest payable are recognised in the Income Statement as they accrue. using the effective interest method.

n} Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date on which the Group's right to receive payment is established.
o) Joint arrangements

All of the group’s joint arrangements are structured through separate vehicles. The group has considered in each arrangement whether
there are contractual arrangements or other facts ang circumstances that indicate the group has rights to the underlying assets and
obligations for the liabilities of the joint arrangement. There are no contractual terms or other facts and circumstances that indicate this
to be the case for each joint arrangement. As such, each joint arrangement has been treated as a joint venture and has been equity
accounted.

p} Government grants

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attached conditions will
be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income against the related cost, on a systematic
basis over the periods the cost is incurred. When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognised as income in equal amounts aver the
expected useful life of the related asset.

q) Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
The Group also has to make judgements in applying its accounting policies which affect the amounts recognised in the financial
statements. Estimates and judgements are contirually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors. including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The key estimates, assumptions and
judgements are set cut below:

Put option obligation

The fair value of both the put option obligation and the associated goodwill recognised is dependent on the following assumptions: the
market value growth of the obiigation and the discount rate used at the reporting date. it is assumed that the holders will exercise their
options at the earliest opportunity. These assumplions are reviewed on a regular basis by senior management.

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates two defined benefit schemes (closed to new members) providing pensions based on final pensionable pay. The
contributions are determined by qualified actuaries based on triennial valuations using the projected unit credit methed.

The Connells (2014) Group Pension Scheme is accounted for within Connefls Limited. The Countrywide pic Pension Scheme was
consolidated into the Connells Group on acquisition of Countrywide Plc in March 2021 and is accounted for within Countrywide Limited
{formerty Countrywide Pic).

These defined benefit pension schemes exposes the Group to actuarial risks such as investment risk, interest rate risk, mortality fsk
and longevity risk. In conjunction with its actuaries the Group makes key financial assumptions which are used in the actuarial
valuation of the defined pension benefit obligation and, therefore, changes to these assumptions have an impact on the defined benefit
pension obligation in the Statement of Financial Position and amounts reported in the Income Statement, These assumptions include
inflation and discount rates. life expectancy, commutation allowances and the rate of salary growth; see note 23 for further details on
these assumptions.

A decrease in corporate bond yields, a rise in inflation or an increase in life expectancy would result in an increase to Scheme liabilities.
This would impact the Statement of Financial Pasition adversely and may give rise to increased charges in future years' Income
Statements. This effect would be partially offset by an increase in the value of the Scheme’s bond holdings and caps on inflationary
increases also exist to protect the scheme against high levels of infiation.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

q} Criticai accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)

Approximate sensitivities of the principal assumptions are set out for both schemes in the tables below, showing the increase or
reduction in the pension obligation. Each sensitivity considers one change in isolation,

Assumption Change in assumption 2021 2020

Connelis (2014) Group Pension Scheme

Discount Rate Decrease of 0.25% p.a. Increase by 4.3% Increase by 4.7%
Rate of inflation Increase 0.25% p.a. Increase by 2.1% Increase by 2.3%
Rate of maortality Increase in lile expectancy of | year Increase by 3.8% Increase by 3.9%

Countrywide Plc Pension Scheme

Discount Rate Decrease of 0.25% p.a. Increase by 3.1% Increase by 3.5%
Rate of inflation Increase 0.25% p.a. Increase by 0.2% Increase by 0.2%
Rate of mortality Increase in life expectancy of 1 year Increase by 6.5% Increase by 5.5%

For the Connells (2014) Group Pension Scheme; the average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the period ending 31
December 2021 was 18 years {2020: 18 years).

For the Countrywide Plc Pension Scheme; the average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the period ending 31 December
2021 was 12 years (2020: 14 years}).

impairment of investments and goodwill

In determining whether an impairment loss should be recognised in the Income Statement, management compare the future cash flows
of each subsidiary against its carrying value. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the cash flows,
discount rates and growth rates. The Group prepares cash flow forecasts on the assumption that the subsidiaries are heid for long-term
investment. The cash flows are derived from the most recent financial budgets for the next five years, which take inta account the risks
inherent in the businesses. For all CGU's the cash flows are extrapolated for subsequent years based on long-term growth rate of
2.5% (2020: 2.5%). The Group estimates discount rates based on the cumrent cost of capital adjusted for the risks inherent in its
subsidiaries. The pre-tax discount rate used in 2021 was 13.59% (2020: 13.55%). Refer to note 11 for sensitivities.

Provisions

Provision is made for professional indemnity claims and potential claims that arise during the normal course of business in relation to
surveys and valuations performed by the Group. Where a formal lstter of claim has been received a provision is made on a case by
case basis, taking into account the strength of the Group's case, and its history of successfully defending claims. Where initial
notification of claims has been received, an estimate is made of the proportion of these expected to lead to a formal claim based upon
historical trends. Finally, provision is also made for the estimated level of claims incurred but not yet reported at the reporting date
(IBNR), taking into account market conditions and a prudent attitude to risk.

The provision for insurance commission clawback is estimated using anticipated cancellation rates of term insurance policies. This
provision is based on the clawback period from the sign up date of the term insurance policy. The cancellation rates used in calcutating
the provision are revisited every quarter.

Acquisitions

Key judgements are required in respect of acquisitions by the Group. in particular in valuing the intangible assets. These judgements
are outlined further in note 24.

IFRS 16

The changes to critical estimates and assumptions used by the Group as a result of adopting IFRS 16, that have an effect on the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, are outlined below.

Lease term

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option to
extend the lease where this is reasonabiy certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease where this
is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

Many of the Group’s leases, particular property leases, contain options for the Group to extend and / or terminate the lease term. The
Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise these options, taking account of all relevant factors
that create an economic incentive for it to do so. After the lease commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there has
been a significant event or change in circumnstances that is within its control and which affects its ability to exercise {or not to exercise)
the option to renew and / or to terminate (e g. @ change in business strategy).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2. Expenses and Auditor's remuneration

Profit before tax is stated after charging / (crediting) the following:

Depreciation of property, piant and equipment

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Amartisation of intangibles

Impairment losses on trade receivables

Short term lease payments charged to operating expenses
Business rates relief

Auditor’s remuneration and expenses
Audit of these financial statements - Group

Audit of these financial statements — Company

3. Revenue

Notes

10

i

25

i U]
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Group
Year
ended
2021
£000

8,562
(445)
59,729
1,048
501
(4.828)

1,417

837

Group
Year
ended
2020
£000

8.503
(163)
3,678
408
241
(3.728)

272

38

All revenue in the Group is considered to originate from contracts with customers. The table below disaggregates the revenue from
contracts with customers into the significant service lines. All revenues are derived by the Group in the UK.

Products and Products
2021 services and
transferred at services
a point in transterred Total
time over time 2021
£000 £000 £000
Commissions earrned on praperty sales 360.629 125 360,754
Commissions earned on property lettings 183,009 - 183,008
income from sale of financial services products 152,179 13,029 165,208
Survey and valuation income 132,004 - 132,004
Conveyancing income 65,312 - 65,312
Commercial income 44,420 34,900 79,320
Other income and commissions 13,323 530 13,853
950,876 48,584 999,460
Products and Products
2020 services and
transferred at services
a pointin transferred Total
time over time 2020
£000 £000 £000
Commissions earned on praperty sales 142,973 157 143,130
Commissions eamed on property lettings 58,938 - 58,938
Income frorm sale of financial services products 80,202 10,802 91,004
Survey and valyation income 51,579 - 51,579
Conveyancing income 26,443 - 26,443
Other income and commissions 3,367 570 3,937
363,502 11,529 375,031
4. Finance income Group Group
Year Year
ended ended
2021t 2020
£000 £000
Interest on bank deposits 258 5
Interest receivable from Group underiakings 136 423
Other interest receivable - 13
394 441
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

5. Finance costs Group . Group__.
Year Year
ended ended
2021 2020
£000 £000
Net interest payable on pension liabilities {see note 23) 491 756
Movement on put option liability interest 81 {20)
Interest on lease liabilities 1,473 932
Interest payable to Parent undertaking 5,056 -
7,101 1,668
6. Other operating income Group Group
Year Year
ended ended
2021 2020
£000 £000
Rents receivable under property leases 716 480
Profit on sale of fixed assets 445 163
Fair value changes in financial instruments held at FVTPL 1,916 (63)
Government grants (see note 25) - 822
3,077 1,402
7. Staff numbers and costs
The average monthly number of persons employed by the Group (including directors) during the year was as follows:
Group Group
2021 2020
No. No.
Directors 8 7
QOther 13,726 6,767
13,734 6,774
The aggregate payroll costs of these persans was as follows:
£000 £000
Wages and salaries 525,788 194,725
Social security costs 56,877 21,780
Qther pension costs 15,249 5,855
597,914 222,360

Wages and salaries are stated after crediting £nil (2020: £21.2m) of government grants received under the Caronavirus Job Retention

Scheme (CJRS). Further details are provided in note 25.

Group Group

Year Year

ended ended

Directors’ emoluments 2021 2020
£000 £000

Directors’ emoluments 8,719 1,299
Company contributions to defined contribution pension schemes - 2
8,719 1,301

Two of the Directors are remunerated by another Group company (2020: Two). During the year £63,000 (2020: £30,900) was charged

to the Group for their services.

The aggregate of emoluments of the highest paid Director was £3,144 956 (2020: £352 539). There were no contributions to defined

contribution pension schemes (2020: £nil) included within this total.

There are not considered to be further key management personnel other than the Directors of the Company noted above.
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NOTES TO THE FINANC|AL STATEMENTS (continued)

8. Tax expense

a) Analysis of expense in the year at 19% (2020: 19%)

Current tax expense

Current tax at 19% (2020: 19%)
Adjustment in respect of prior years
Total current tax

Deferred tax {income) / expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Adjustment in respect of prior years

Effect of changes in tax rates

Total deferred tax (See note 15)

Tax expense

b) Factors affecting current tax expense in the year

Connells Limited
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

Group Group
Year Year
ended ended
2021 2020
£000 £000
18,429 11,091
395 121
18,034 10,970
{413) (112)
(285) 266
(840) (260)
(1,538) {1086)
16,496 10,864

The tax assessed in the Income Statement is lower (2020: higher) than the standard UK corporation tax rate because of the following

factors:

Profit before tax

Tax on profit at UK standard rate of 19% (2020: 19%)
Effects of:

Non-taxable income from joint ventures

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Adjustment to tax expense in respect of prior years
Income not taxable

Change in tax rates

Higher tax rates on overseas earnings

Tax assets recognised on losses

Reversal of deferred tax asset previously recognised
Other

Tax expense recognised in Income Statement

¢) Income tax recognised in Other Comprehensive income

Deferred tax debit/ (credit} in respect of retirement benefit obligations
Current tax (credit) in respect of retirement benefit obligations

Tax expense/ {income) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

9. Dividends

Amounts recagnised as distributions 1o equity holders in the period:

Dividends for the year paid on ‘A’ shares

111,324 51,799
21152 9,842
(235) (637)
1,808 2,134
(680) 146
(5,961) (361)
(840) {260)
(412} -
(160) -
1,625 -
199 -
16,496 10,864
Group Group
Year Year
ended ended
2021 2020
£000 £000
2,356 (2.120)
(1,445) (250)
911 {2,370}
Year Year
ended ended
2021 2020
£009 £000
60,000 20,000

The dividend per share totalled £5.80 (2020: £1.93). No dividends (2020: nil) were paid to the holders of ‘0", ‘E’ or 'F’ ordinary shares.
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NOTES TO THE F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS (continued}

10. Property, plant and equipment

Group

Cost

At 1 January 2021

Additions

Recognised on acquisition of subsidiary undertakings
Disposals

At 31 December 2021

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2021t

Depreciation charge for the year

Disposals

At 31 December 2021

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2021

At 31 December 2021

Company

Cost

At 1 January 2021
Additions

Disposais

At 31 December 2021

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2021

Depreciation charge for the year

Disposals

At 31 December 2021

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2021

At 31 December 2021

Connells Limited
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Equipment

Land fixtures
and and Motor Group
buildings fittings vehicles totai
£000 £000 £000 £000
43,876 34,794 15,764 94,434
1,152 4,905 1,484 7.544
1,256 3,185 - 4,441
(398) {339) (2.615) (3,352}
45,886 42,545 14,633 103,064
26175 28,181 9.905 684,261
2,836 4,037 1,689 8,562
(131) (326) (2.131) (2,588)
28,880 31,892 9,463 70,235
17,701 6,613 5,859 30,173
17,006 10,653 5,170 32,829

Equipment

Land fixtures
and and Motor Company
buildings fittings Vehicles total
£000 £000 £000 £000
4,410 58671 - 10,081
170 1413 21 1,604
(269) - (269)
4,311 7,084 21 11,416
1,856 1,271 - 3,127
323 1,664 - 1,987
(68} {15) - (83)
2,111 2,920 - 5,031
2,554 4,400 6,954
2,200 4,164 21 6,384
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

10. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Group

Cost

At 1 January 2020
Additions

Disposals

At 31 December 2020

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2020

Depreciation charge for the year

Disposals

At 31 December 2020

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2020

At 31 December 2020

Company

Cost

At 1 January 2020

Transfers from another Group Company
Additions

Dispasals

At 31 December 2020

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2020

Depreciation charge for the year

At 31 December 2020

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2020

At 31 December 2020

Connells Limited
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Equipment
Land fixtures
and and Mator Group
buildings fittings vehicles total
£00¢ £000 £000 £000
43,928 32,338 16.809 93,075
520 2,865 1.216 4,601
572 409 2,281 3,242
43,876 34,794 15,764 94,434
23,129 25,182 9.835 58,146
3,329 3,294 1,880 8,503
283 295 (1.810) (2.388)
26,175 28,181 9,905 64,261
20,799 7,156 6,974 34,929
17,701 6,613 5,859 30,173
Equipment
Land fixtures
and and Motor Company
buildings fittings Vehicles total
£000 £000 £000 £0400
4,028 970 - 4,988
304 4,217 451
105 484 - 589
27) - - {27)
4,410 5,671 - 10,081
1.667 870 2,637
189 301 - 430
1,856 1,271 - 3,127
2.361 - - 2,361
2,554 4,40¢ - 6,954
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11. Intangible assets

Group Customer
Computer contracts &
Goodwill Brands software relationships Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At 1 January 2021 93,509 6.499 12,859 30,268 143,135
Recognised on acquisition of subsidiary 82,562 54,740 3,465 104,394 245,161
undertakings
Additions - - 4,055 - 4,055
Put option reassessment 398 - - - 398
Disposals - - (105) (1.804) (1,909)
At 31 December 2021 176,469 61,219 20,274 132,858 390,840
Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2021 6.705 - 8,319 27,487 42,511
Amortisation charge for the year - - 5,245 54,484 59,729
Disposals - - (105) (1,804) (1,909)
At 31 December 2021 6,705 - 13,459 80,166 100,331
Carrying amounts
At t January 2021 86,804 6.499 4,540 2,781 100,624
At 31 December 2021 169,764 61,239 6,815 52,691 290,509
Customer
Computer contracts &
Goodwill Brands software relationships Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At 1 January 2020 93,539 6,499 - 11,624 29,552 141,214
Recognised on acquisition of subsidiary 845 - - 716 1,561
undertakings
Additions - - 1,235 - 1,235
Put option reassessment {875) - - - (B75)
At 31 December 2020 93,509 6,499 12,859 30,268 143,135
Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2020 4,705 - 6,600 25,528 36,833
Amortisation charge for the year - - 1,719 1,959 3,678
Impairment 2,000 - - - 2,000
At 31 December 2020 6,705 - 8,319 27,487 42,511
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2020 88,834 6,499 5,024 4,024 104,381
At 31 December 2020 86,804 6,499 4,540 2,781 100,624

The brands relate to Gascoigne Halman, RMS Estate Agents, Peter Alan, Countrywide Estate Agents and Lambert Smith Hampton
{see below). In the Directars’ view, these brands all have a long and successful history and have shown their ability to adapt to
changing market trends. Further, the Groug will cantinue to invest in the brands in order to protect their value. As such, the brands have
been judged to have indefinite lives and are not amortised but are subject to annual impairment tests.

Adl amortisation and impairment charges in the year and the prior year have been charged through operating expenses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cortinued)

11. Intangible assets {continued)

Company
Computer
software
Totat
£000
Cost
At 1 January 2021 3,955
Additions 1,689
At 31 December 2021 5,644
Amortisation and impairment
losses
At 1 January 2021 235
Amarlisation charge for the year 1.630
At 31 December 2021 1,865
Carrying amounts
Al 1 January 2021 3,720
At 31 December 2021 3,779
Computer
software
Total
£000
Cost
At 1 January 2020 -
Transfers from another Group company 3.752
Additions 203
At 31 December 2020 3,955
Amortisation and impairment
losses
At 1 January 2020 -
Amaortisation charge for the year 235
At 31 December 2020 235
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2020 -
At 31 December 2020 3,720
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

11. Intangible assets {continued)

Goodwill and brands acquired it a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the individual cash generating units (CGUSs) that
are expected to benefit from that business combination. The carrying value of goodwill and brands is allocated as follows:

Group

Goodwill Brands Goodwill Brands
Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying

value value value value
2021 2021 2020 2020
Cash Generating Unit £000 £000 £000 £000
Sequence (UK) Limited 40,775 - 40,428 -
Connells Residential 6,494 - 6,150 ‘-
Sharman Quinney Holdings Limited 6,202 - 5,804 .-
Peter Alan Limited 5770 2317 5770 2,317
Gascoigne Halman Group Limited 6,239 2,982 6,239 2,982
RMS Estate Agents Limited 325 1,200 325 1,200
The Asset Management Group Limited 8,456 - 8,456 -
The New Homes Group Limited 13,182 - 13,182 -
Connells Survey & Valuation 450 - 450 -
*Countrywide Estate Agents 27.375 42 641 - -
*Countrywide Surveyors Limiteq 31,329 - - -
*Lambert Smith Hampton Group Limited 14,559 12,099 - -
*Mortgage Intelligence Limited 5.386 - - -
*The Buy to Let Business Limited 942 - - -
*JAM Advisors Limited 2,280 - - -
169,764 61,239 86,804 6,499

*On acquisition of the Countrywide Group in March 2021, six separate cash-generating units (CGUS) were identified for the purpose of
assessing the carrying value of goodwill and brand, see note 24 for further details.

During the year the put option relating to Sharman Quinney Holdings Limited was reassessed in the year based on current and
expected trading expectations, resuiting in a £398k increase in goodwill.

In March 2021 Sequence {UK) Limited and Connells Residential completed acquisitions which increased the goodwifl heid by those
entities by £347k and £344k respectively.

The recoverable amounts of goodwill and brands are determined from value-in-use calculations for the CGUs listed above.

Key assumplions

The value-in-use calculation for gach of the above CGUs is maost sensitive to the following assumpticns:

« Forecast cash flows

« Long term growth rate

+ Discount rates

Farecast cash flows reflect how management believe the business will perform over the short term five year period and are used to
calculate the value-in-use of the CGUs. The Group prepares cash-flow forecasts on the assumption that the subsidiaries are held for
long-term investment. The cash flows for the Estate Agency and Survey and Valuation businesses are derived from the most recent
financial budgets for the next five years, which take into account the risks inherent in the businesses

The growth rate reflects how management believe the business will perform over the long term, and extrapolate cash flows for
subsequent years, generally based on a long-term growth rate of 2.5% (2020: 2.5%).

Discount rates reflect management's estimate of the post-tax Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) of the Group and this is the

benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate future acquisition proposals. The pre-tax discount
rate was 13.58% (2020: 13.55%)
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11. Intangible assets (continued)
Sensitivities

Management has undertaken sensitivity analyses to determine the effect of changes in assumptions on the 2021 impairment reviews.
The key assumptions driving the carrying vaiues are tha discount rate applied to the cash flow forecasts and the growth rates within the
cash flow forecast for both the next five years and the long term.

Management have considered the CGUs under various scenarios and concluded that there is significant headroom over the majority of
the CGUs. The CGU with the least headroom was Asset Management Group Limited.

For Asset Management Group, sensitivity was assessed by increasing the discount rate by 2.5% 1o 16.09%, which would lead to an
impairment of £1.1m. Further assessment revealed that the discount rate would have to increase by 1.7% to 15.29% for an impairment
to arise. As an additional tast to the sensitivity the long term growth rate was decreased by 2.5% resulting in an £8.1m impairment, and
a 5% decrease which would lead ta an impairment of £1.8m. The 5 year forecast cash flows were reduced by 10% which would not
give rise to an impairment, however when reduced by 20% an impairment of £0.4m would arise.

Across the remaining CGUs, it would require a significant decline in performance to trigger an impairment. To test the sensitivity the
discount rate was increased by 5% to 18 59%, resulting in an impairment of £nil. Further assessment revealed that the discount rate
would have to increase by 7.07% to 20.66% to trigger an impairment. The sensitivity to the long term growth rate was also tested,
decreases of 5% year on year would resuit in an impairment of £nil, and decreases of 15% would lead 10 an impairment of £0.7m. For
the 5 year forecast cash flows decreases of 10% would not result in an impairment, and decreases of 50% would result in an
impairment of £0.8m.

12, Right-of-use assets

Group
Land Equipment Motor Group
and £000 vehicles total
buildings £000 £000
£000
Cost
At 1 January 2021 62,794 5,393 1,229 69,416
Additions 7.991 273 421 8,685
Recognised on acquisition of subsidiary undertakings 46,086 96 403 46,585
Disposals (5,712} - (403) (6.115)
Modifications 7.795 {12) - 7,783
At 31 December 2021 118,954 5,750 1,650 126,354
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2021 24,113 809 606 25528
Depreciation charge for the year 24,065 1,173 758 25896
Impairment 416 - - 418
Disposals (5,364) - (385) (5,749)
Modifications 2 - - 2
At 31 December 2021 43,232 1,982 979 46,193
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2021 38,681 4,584 623 43,888
At 31 December 2021 75,722 3,768 671 80,161
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12. Right-of-use assets {continued)

Group

Cost

At 1 January 2020
Additions

Disposals
Modifications

At 31 December 2020

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2020

Depreciation charge for the year

Impairment

Disposals

Modifications

At 31 December 2020

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2020

At 31 December 2020

Company

Cost

At 1 January 2021
Additions

At 31 December 2021

Accumuiated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2021

Depreciation charge for the year

Impairment

At 31 December 2021

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2021

At 31 Decernber 2021

Connells Limited
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Land Equipment Motor Group
and £000 vehicles total
buildings £000 £000
£000
55117 5310 1,125 61,552
6,084 83 472 6,639
(1,900) - (223) (2.123)
3,493 - {145) 3,348
62,794 5,393 1,229 69,416
12,023 - 547 12,570
12,109 809 427 13,345
1,407 - - 1,407
(1,457) - {223) (1.680)
a1 - {(145) (114}
24,113 809 606 25,528
43,094 5,310 578 48,982
38,681 4,584 623 43,888
Equipment Total
£000 £000
207 207
207 207
41 41
4 41
166 166

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Cormnpany held no Right-of-use Assets with a carrying amount at the year-end of £nil.
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13. Investments

At 31 December 2021, the Company owns equity share capital in the following jeint venture, which is incorporated and trades in the

UK, as follows:

Name of joint venture

Cybele Solutions Heldings Limited

Nature of business

Proportion of
ordinary
shares held
2021

Conveyancing services 50.0%

Proportion of
ordinary
shares held
2020

50.0%

At 31 December 2028, the Company also awned 33.3% of the equity in TM Group (UK} Limited, a property search provider, and
46.1% of the equity in Vibrant Energy Matters Limited, a home energy, property and eco services provider, both of which are
incorporated and trade within the UK. On 8 March 2021, as a resuit of the acquisition of Countrywide, the Group gained control of
both companies which became subsidiary undertakings. As explained in Note 24, the Group subsequently disposed of its entire

shareholding in TM Group (UK) Limited.

There are no significant restrictions over the joint venture's ability to pay cash dividends.

Joint ventures are recognised within these financial statements using the equity accounting method.

Group

Joint Ventures

Balance at 1 January

Share of joint venture profits after tax
Dividends received

Impairment

Transferred on step acquisition

At 31 December

Investment in joint ventures

Share of joint ventures’
Non-current assets

Current assets

Current liabilities

Net assets at 31 December

Share of joint ventures’

Income

Admin expenses

Depreciation and amartisation

Interest income

Profit before tax

Taxation

Profit and total comprehensive income

Group Group
2021 2020
£000 £000

13,264 12,531
1,237 3,364

(2,139) (1.175)

- (1,456)

(2,886) -
9.476 13,264

Group Group
2021 2020
£000 £000

8,907 13,050
2,817 6,887
(2,048 _ (6,673)
9,476 13,264
12,747 35,136
(10.,496) (30,131)
(724) (1,174}

- 3

1,827 3,834
(290) 470)
1,237 3,364
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13. Investments {continued)

The following table details financial information for the joint venture held at 31 December 2021, together with the Group's share.

Cybele Solutions Holdings Limited ‘ 2021 2020

£000 £000
Non-current assets 7,068 6,463
Current assets 5,233 6,045
Current liabilities (4,005) (3,488)
Net assets at 31 December 8,204 9,020
Group's share of net assets 4,102 4,510
Investment 5,374 5,374
Carrying amount of interest in joint ventures 9,476 9,884
Income 17,807 19,723
Admin expenses {14,458) (16,475)
Depreciation and amortjsation (1,346) (1.515)
Interest income - 2
Profit before tax 2,003 1,735
Taxation {462) (140)
Profit and total comprehensive income 1,541 1,595
Group’s share of profit and total comprehensive income 770 797

The following tables detail financial information for those former joint ventures, together with the Group's share. The share of profit and
total comprehensive ingome is shown up to 8 March 2021, as explained further in note 24.

TM Group (UK) Limited 2021 2020
£000 £000
Non-current assets - 10,454
Current assets - 10,386
Current liabilities - (12,575)
Net assets at 31 December - 8,265
Group’s share of net assets - 2,752
Investment - 48
Carrying amount of interest in joint ventures - 2.800
Income 9,266 66,677
Adrnin expenses (7.803) (56,158)
Depreciation and amortisation (135) (1.142)
Interest income - 2]
Profit before tax 1,328 9,383
Taxation (129) (1.165)
Profit and total comprehensive income 1,199 8,218
Group’s share of profit and total comprehensive income 399 2,737
Vibrant Energy Matters Limited 2021 2020
£000 £000
Non-current assets - 1,292
Current assets - 881
Current liabilities - (1.611)
Net assets at 31 December - 562
Group's share of net assets - 259
Investment - 321
Carrying amount of interest in joint ventures - 580
Income 1,625 6,657
Admin expenses (1,429) (6,921)
Depreciation and amortisation {14) (79)
Profit before tax 182 {343)
Taxation (35) {26)
Profit and total comprehensive income 147 {369)
Group’s share of profit/ {loss) and total comprehensive income 68 {170)
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The Company's investments comprise the cost of the whole of the issued and fully paid ordinary share capital substantially owned
directly or indirectly of its subsidiary undertakings together with its investments in joint ventures, all of which are incorporated in
Great Britain, and whose operations are conducted in the United Kingdom.

Company Shares in group Interest in joint
undertakings ventures and
£000 associates Total
£000 £000

Cost
At 1 Januwary 2021 122,339 12,772 135111
Additions 132,356 - 132,356
Transferred on step acquisition 4,862 (4.862) -
Disposals (4,862} (4,862}
Put option reassessment 398 - 398
At 31 December 2021 255,093 7,810 263,003
Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2021 4,859 1,456 6,315
impairment - - -
Transferred on step acquisition - _(456) _(456)
At 31 December 2021 4,859 1,000 5,859
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2021 117,480 11,316 128,796
At 31 December 2021 250,234 6,910 257,143
Cost
At 1 January 2020 123,214 12,772 135,986
Additions - - -
Put option reassessment (875) - {875)
At 31 December 2020 122,339 12,772 135,111
Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2020 2,859 B 2,859
Impairment 2,000 1,456 3,456
At 1 31 December 2020 4,859 1,456 6,315
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2020 120,355 12,772 133,127
At 31 December 2020 117,480 11,316 128,796
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At 31 December 2021, the Company owns equity share capital in the following trading subsidiary undertakings, which are all

incorporated in the UK:

Name of subsidiary undertaking

Connells Residential®

Conveyancing Direct Limited®
Connells Survey & Valuation Limited?
The Asset Management Group Limited®
AMG North East Limited®

AMG Projecte Limited®

Gascoigne Halman Group Limited®
Gascoigne Haiman (Holdings) Limited?®
Gascoigne Halman Limited®
Gascoigne Halman Private Finance Limited®
Just Wills Limited?

Just Wills Group Limited?®

Just Wills Holdings Limited?

Pattison Lane Estate Agents Limited®
Peter Alan Limited?®

Protection Helpline Limited?

Redstone Wills Limited?

RMS Estate Agents Limited?®

RMS Mortgage Services Limited?
Sequence (UK) Limited?®

Sharman Quinney Holdings Limited®
The New Homes Group Limited®

Vibrant Energy Matters Limited'

Zeus Financial Services Limited?
AgencyPro Limited?

Associated Employers Limited"

Capital Private Finance Limited'
Countrywide Estate Agents®
Countrywide Group Holdings Limited?
Countrywide Group Limited?
Countrywide Limiteg?

Countrywide Principal Services Limited'
Countrywide Property Lawyers Limited
Countrywide Surveyors Limited?

JAM Advisors Limited*

Lambert Smith Hampton (Nireland) Limited"
Lambert Smith Hampton Group Limited”
Lambert Smith Hampton Investment
Management Limited"

Lambert Smith Hampton Limited"

Life and Easy Limited'

Mortgage Intelligence Holdings Limited'
Mortgage Intelligence Limited'
Mortgage Next Limited'

Mortgage Next Netwerk Limited'

Slater Hogg Mortgages Limited'

The Buy To Let Business Limited’

The Buy To Let Group Limited
TitleAbsolute Limiteg™

Principal nature of business

Residential estate agency

Licensed Conveyancer

Residential surveying and valuations

Asset management

Asset management

Maintenance of properties for resale
Intermediate holding company

Intermediate holding company

Residential estate agency

Advising on and arranging financial products
Will writing and associated services

Will writing and associated services

Will writing and associated services
Residential estate agency

Residential estate agency

Advising on and arranging financiat products
Will writing and associated services
Residential estate agency

Advising on and arranging financial products
Residential estate agency

Residential estate agency

Agents for insurance and mortgage related
praducts, new homes marketing and operating
as an estate agency.

Property services including energy
perfarmance certificates

Advising on and arranging financial products
Provision of regulatory training

Recruitment Services

Financial Services

Estate Agency and Lettings

Holding company

Holding company

Holding company

Financial Services

Conveyancing Services

Surveying Services

Financial Services

Surveying Services

Property consuitancy

Investment brokerage

Hoiding Company
Financial Services
Financial Services
Financial Services
Financial Services
Financial Services
Financial Services
Financial Services
Financial Services
Conveyancing Services

Connells Residential and Countrywide Estate Agents are unlimited Companies.

Proportion of
ordinary
shares heid
2021
100%
100%
100%
75%
100%:2
100%:2
82.75%
100%3
100%1?
100%12
100%"
100%7
100%
95%!
100%
100%
100%
95%
100%7
100%
95%
100%

78.44%

100%

100% 3
100%™
100%"*
100%"
100%"'*
100%"'°
100%

100%®
100%'¢
1009%"®
100%"7
100%®
100%"
100%™

100%%
100%?"
100%2°
100%>!
100%32"
100922
100%'6
100922
100%2°
100%%°

Proportion
of ordinary
shares held
2020

100%
100%
100%

75%

100%*
100%?*
82.75%
100%3
100%"2
100%"?
100%"*
100%°
100%

95%’

100%
100%
100%

95%

100%7
100%

95%

100%

46.1%

100%

Put options exist over the non-controlling interests in The Asset Management Group Limited, Gascoigne Halman Group Limited,
Sharman Quinney Holdings Limited and RMS Estate Agents Limited.

A full st of subsidiary undertakings and their registered addresses at 31 December 2021 is included within the appendix. The appendix
on pages 66 to 73 forms part of these financial statements.
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13. Investments (conlinued)

Held indirectly through Sharman Quinney Holdings Limited
Held indirectly through The Asset Management Group Limnited
Held indirectly through The New Homes Group Limited

Held indirectly through Peter Alan Limited

Held indirecily through Gascoigne Halman Group Limited
Held indirectly through White Space Property Group Limited
Held indirectly through RMS Estate Agents Limited

Held indirectly through Sequence (UK) Limited

Held indirectly through Just Wills Holdings Limited

" Held indirectly through Just Wills Limited

"' Held indirectly through Just Wills Group Limited

"2 Held indirectly through Gascoigne Halman (Holdings) Limited
'3 Held indirectly through Servpre Limited

' Held indirectly through Lambert Smith Hampton Group Limited
'S Held indirectly through Countrywide Limited

'8 Held indirectly through Countywide Group Holdings Limited

7 Held indirectly through Countrywide Principal Services Limited
'® Held indirectly through Lambert Smith Hampton Group Limited
" Held indirectly through Lambert Smith Hampton Limited

© Held indirectly through Countrywide Groug Limited

2 Held indirectly through Mortgage Intelligence Holdings Limited
2 Held indirectly through Mortgage Next Limited

2 Held indirectly through The Buy to Let Group Limited

- A SEL R S~ R VR

Registered Offices

* Cumbria House, 16-20 Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, Bedfordshire, LU7 1GN
°13-21 High street, Guildford, Surrey, GU' 3DG

©42 Alderley Road, Wilmslow, Cheshire, $K3 1NY

?Windmill Road, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex, TN38 9BY

24t flgor, 115 George Street, Edinburgh, EH2 4N

' 2 Foxes Lane, Oakdale Business Park, Blackwood, Gwent, NP12 4AB

¢ Greenwood House 1* Floor, 91-39 New London Road, Chelmsford, Essex, CM2 OPP
" 180 Oxford Street, London, W1D 1NN

'Coauntrywide House, 6 Caldecotte Lake Business Park, Caldecotte, Milton Keynes, MK7 84T
' Lee House, 90 Great Bridgewater Street, Manchester, Lancashire, M1 5RR

* Buite 2a St David's Court, Union Street, Wolverhampton, United Kingdom, WV1 3JE
"Roddis House 4™ Floor, 4-12 Old Christchurch Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH1 1LG
™ Churchgate House 2" Floor, 56 Oxford Street, Manchester, M1 6EU

The Company has guaranteed the liabilities of the following entities for the year ended 31 December 2021. They are therefore exempt
from audit under the Companies Act (2006) section 479A.

AgencyPro Limited (Company number: 08613297)

Associated Employers Limited (Company number: 02367086)

AMG North East Limited (Company number: 03326785

AMG Projects Limited(Company number: 04330364)

Capital Private Finance Limited (Company number: 07552028)
Countrywide Group Holdings Limited (Company number: 01837522}
Gascoigne Halman Private Finance Limited (Compary number: 62274172}
Hall and Benson Limited (Company number: 08730244)

Holroyds Residential Limited (Company number: 09620942)

Just Wills Limited (Company number: 02427464)

Just Wills Group Limited (Company number: 05186807}

Just Wills Holdings Limited (Company number: 07485279)

Lambert Smith Hampton Limited (Company number: 02222001)
Lambert Smith Hampton [nvestment Management Limited (Company number: 11145783)
Life and Easy Limited (Company number: 05652516)

Morigage Next Limited (Company number: 03175440)

Morigage Next Network Limited {Company number: 04705100)
Pattison Lane Estate Agents Limited (Company number: 04730529}
Protection Helpline Limited {Company number; 09928334)
Redstone Wills Limited {Company number: 03673190}

RMS Mortgage Services Limited (Company number: 05605493)
Slater Hogg Mortgages Limited (Company number: 04206425)

Title Absolute Limited (Company number: 03958105)

The Buy to Let Group Limited (Company number: 09839405)

Zeus Financial Services Limited (Company number: 11727362)
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14. Financial assets Group Company Group Company
2021 2021 2020 2020
£000 £000 £000 £000

Equity Investments

Quoled shares carried at fair value 221 - 213 -
Unguoted shares carried at fair value 12,554 12554 8,071 8,071
12,775 12,554 8,284 8,071

Quoted shares carried at fair value

These camprise an equity investment in On The Maikel ple. The shares were valued at £221k at 31 December 2021, based on the
closing share price at thal date {2020: £213k).

Unquoted shares carried at fair value

The Group's holding of unlisted investments comprises minarity shareholding investments in Hearthstone Investments ple, Viewber
Limited, Global Property Ventures Limited, Twenty7 Tec Group Limited and ZPG Property Services Holdings Limited.

The Directors have reviewed the carrying value of Viewber Limited, based on recent trading performance, outiook and expectations of
the value of the business and have concluded that the cost of investment of £350k (2020. £350k) is the best indication of its fair value.

The Directors have reviewed the carrying value of Global Property Ventures Limited, based on recent trading performance, outlook and
expectations of the value of the businress and have concluded that the cost of investment of £1,157k (2020: £709k) is the best

indication of its fair value.

The Group holds share warrants in ZPG Property Services Holdings Limited, valued at £11,047k (2020 £6,537k) based on an
independent third party valuation.

As explained in note 22, the Group holds a 17% stake (2020: 17%) in Hearthstone Investments Limited, valued at £nil (2020: £nil). The
Group also holds a 2% (2020:2%) interest in Twenty7 Tec Limited, valued at £nil (2020: £nil).

As explained in note 24, the Group disposed of its investment in Tactile Limited during the year.

The movement on the value of financial assets in the year is shown below:

Group Company Group Company

2021 2021 2020 2020

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at t January 8,284 8,071 4,689 4,575

Recognised on acquisition of 5417 5,356 - -
subsidiary undertakings

Additions 1,755 1,755 3,341 155

Fair value adjustment 5,495 5457 254 3,341

Disposals (8,175) (8,084) - -

At 31 December 12,776 12,555 8,284 8,071
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15. Deferred tax

Deferred tax balances are caiculated on temporary differences under the liability method using an effective tax rate of 25% (2020: 19%}
as this is the enacted rate that is expected to apply when the temporary differences reverse.

The movement on the deferred tax asset is as shown below:

Group Company Group Company
2021 2021 2020 2020
£000 £000 £000 £000
Deferred tax asset at 1 January 11,009 9172 8.960 6,957
Charged to the income statement
Income Statement (debitl credit 1,253 (25) 372 99
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 285 {231) (266) {4)
Movement arising from the acquisition or disposal of 4,515 - (87) -
a business
Charged to the statement of comprehensive income:
Arising in respect of pension {2,356) (2,040) 2120 2120
obligations
Deferred tax asset at 31 December 14,796 6,875 11,099 8,172
Deferred tax assets are attributable to the following items:
Group Company Group Company
2021 2021 2020 2020
£000 £000 £000 £000
Capital allowances 15,143 (198) 1.824 88
Intangible assets {21.115) (214) (566) -
Losses 12,760 - - -
Provision 3,251 1,558 1,297 522
Pension obligations 6,334 6,570 8,609 8,609
Gain deferred by roll over relief (888) - - -
Other (689} (841} (65) {47)
Deferred tax asset at 31 December 14,796 6,875 11,099 9,172

The (charge)/ credit to the income statement is attributable to the following items:

Group Company Group Company

2021 2021 2020 2020

£000 £000 £000 £000

Capital allowances 2,421 (287) 873 89

Intangible assets 5083 (214 (413) -

Losses (4.530) - - -

Provision 1,730 1,036 71} 41

Other {3,166) (793) (283) (35)
Deferred tax {charged)/ credited to income

for the year 1,538 (256) 106 a5

45



Connells Limited
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

15. Deferred tax (continued)

The charge to other comprehensive income is attributable to the following items:

Pension obligations
Deferred tax credited/ (charged) to other
comprehensive income for the year

Group Company Group Company
2021 2021 2020 2020
£000 £000 £000 £000

(2,356) (2,040} 2,120 2,120

(2,356) (2,040) 2,120 2,120

A deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at least annually and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that

the related tax benefit will be realised.

Unrecognised deferred tax relating to losses carried forward at 31 December 2021 comprises capital losses of £56,769k (2020: £474k)

and other tax losses of £1,707k (2020 Nil).

The unrecognised deferred tax assets based on the above losses have increased materially following the acquisition of the
Countrywide Group in the year. There is no expectation that these losses will be able to be used in the near future.

16. Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables

Amounts due from ultimate parent undertaking
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings
Other receivables

Prepayments and accrued income

Contract assets

Bad debt provision

Group Company Group Company
2021 2021 2020 2020
£000 £000 £000 £000

71,738 - 26,535

646 - 668 -
- 42,1486 - 8,252

10,215 2,224 3,523 3,129

25,880 2,388 8,864 1,851
1,328 - 781 -

(4,154) - (2.475) -

105,653 46,758 37,896 13,232

The ageing of trade receivables (which all arose in the UK) at the year end was:

Group

Not overdue

Overdue 0-30 days
QOverdue 31-120 days
Overdue 120 days plus

2021 2021 2020 2020
£000 £000 £000 £000
Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
34,057 (693) 9,413 {154)
26,985 () 11,505 (11)
7,220 {862) 3,713 {877)
3.476 (2,580} 1,904 _(1,433)
71,738 (4,154) 26,535 {2,475}

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

Group

At 1 January

Recognised on acquisition of subsidiary undertakings
Provisions made during the year

Receivables written off during the year

Provisions no longer required

At 31 December

2021 2020
£000 £000
(2.475) {2,091)
(2.895) .
(346) (891)
1,048 408
514 99
{4,154) {2,475)
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16. Trade and other receivables (continued)
The Group does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables. Management believes that the unimpaired amounts

that are overdue are stili coliectible in full, based on historical payment behaviour and analysis of customer credit risk. The carrying
value approximates to fair value.

17. Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company Group Company

2021 2021 2020 2020

£000 £000 £000 £000

Bank balances 53.557 8.827 31,613 5,502
Call deposits 85,500 65,500 71,440 71,440
119,057 72,327 103,053 77,032

The call deposits represent cash on deposit with Skipton Building Society, the ultimate parent undertaking. The amounts are repayable
on demand at the discretion of Connells Limited.

Bank balances include £4,273,000 (2020: £nily which are subject to restrictions on withdrawal and are therefore not available for
general use by entities within the Group.

Campanies within the Skipton Group have provided crass guarantees ta certain banks in the event they enter an gverdralt position. At
31 December bank ovardrafts and loans subject to such guarantees were £nil (2020: £nil).

18. Trade and other payables

Group Company Group Company
Due within one year 2021 2021 2020 2020
£000 £000 £000 £000
Trade and other payables 28,856 2077 7.993 2,176
Other taxes and sacial sectrity 36,443 65 14,509 415
Amaunts owed to ultimate parent undertaking 14,041 14,041 5,224 5,224
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - 53.445 - 40,525
Accruals and deferred income 81,385 4,700 26,167 3,050
Put option abligation 7,635 7.635 6.010 6,010
168,362 81,963 59,903 57,400

Due after more than one year
Trade and other payables 11,584 9,275 4677 1,165
Amounts owed to ultimate parent undertaking 119,423 119,423 - -
Amounts owed to credit institutions 1,000 - - -
Put option obligation 1,075 1,078 898 898
133,082 129,773 5,575 2,063

Amounts owed to the uitimate parent undertaking by both the Group and Company include £128.2m (2020: £nil) relating to a 20 year
unsecured loan expiring in 2041, repayable in equal semi-annual instalments, but which can be repaid earlier in whole or in part at the
Company's discretion without penaity. The interest rate payable on the loan is SONIA + 2.86%.

Amounts owed to credit institutions comprise £1.0m (2020:£nil) of unsecured loan notes which are non-interest bearing, repayable in
2029. The Group inherited the Joan on Acquisition of Countrywide Plc on 8 March 2021 (see Note 24) with no change in its terms.

The movement within the fair value of the put option obligation is summarised below: Group & Group &
Company Company

2021 2020

£000 £000

At 1 January 6,908 7,486
Unwind of the discount factor 133 148
Re-evaluation of future exercise dates (52) (168}
Re-evaluation of market value 1,721 (558)
Exercise of put option - -
At 31 December 8,710 5,908

During 2021 the fair value of the put option obligations relating to Gascoigne Halman Group Limited and RMS Estate Agents Limited
were increased by £1,323k, reflecting expectations around the valuation based on current and forecast trading. The fair value of the
put option obligations relating to The Asset Management Group Limited and Sharman Quinney Holdings Limited were increased by £nil
and £398k respectively based on trading expectations, but these impact goodwill rather than the income statement,
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18. Trade and other payables (continued)
In the prior year the fair value of the put option obligations relating to Gascoigne Haiman Group Limited and RMS Estate Agents
Lirited were increased by £317k, reflecting expectations around the valuation based on current and forecast trading. The fair value of

the put option obligations relating to The Asset Management Group Limited and Sharman Quinney Holdings Limited were reduced by
£875k based on trading expectations, but these impact goodwill rather than the income statement.

19. Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased asset revert to the lessar in the event of default.

Group
Group Group
2021 2020
£000 £000
Cost
At 1 January 45,148 48,331
Recognised on acquisition of subsidiary undertakings 76,366 -
Additions 7.426 6,730
Interest charged 1,479 932
Lease payments (40,372) (13,931)
Digposals (396) {444)
Madifications 8,861 3,530
At 31 December 98,512 45,148
The present value of lease liabilities by repayment date is as follows.
Group Group
2021 2020
£000 £000
Lease fiabilities are repayable:
In not more than 3 months 4,061 3,215
In more than 3 months but less than 1 year 19,546 7,490
In more than 1 year but less than 5 years 60,856 26,457
In more than 5 years 14,049 7,986
98,512 45,148

Company
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20. Provisions

{a) Property provisions

The dilapidation provision is accrued on the basis of amounts identified at the date of property acquisition, tess any subseguent
expenditure, or where a section 412 notice or schedule of dilapidations has been received from the landlord. Provision is made for
oroperties with non-cancellable leases where the Group no longer occupies the property. The provision represents the rent to the end
of the lease, less any rental income from subletling the properties. The provision for the costs of closed branches is expected to
reverse over the remaining life of the leases, or period to the anticipated date of disposal, if sooner.

(b} Insurance commission clawback

Provision for insurance commission clawback is estimated using anticipated cancellation rates of term insurance policies. This
provision is based on the clawback period from the sign up date of the term insurance policy. The cancellation rates used in the
provision are revisited every quarter. The provision is expected to reverse over the next 3 years, with a stight weighting towards the
first year.

(c) Professional indemnity obligations

Provision is made for professional indemnity claims and potential claims that arise during the normal course of business. The provision
is based upon the expected level of future professional indemnity claims relating to services provided by the Group. The provision
includes valuation and defect claims. It is not possible to estimate the timing of payment of all claims and therefore a significant
proportion of the provision has been classified as non-current, although it is expected a significant proportion of the provision will be
settled in the next 2 years, although some will take an additional 5 years to settie entirely.

Valuation claims

The value provided on each valuation claim is the lower of the Professional Indemnity insurance excess per claim or the estimated
exposure. Any unutilised annual aggregate Professional Indemnity poficy excess is also provided, where the ultimate level of
successful claims is expected to exceed this threshold. To assess the level of future claims, analysis is performed an the number of
preliminary notifications expected to turn inta future claims, and on historical claim trends to forecast the number of future claims where
a natification is yet to be received. Historical data on claims success frequency and valug is also used to estimate the size of the
liability. The provision will be utilised as individual claims are settled and the settlement amount may vary from the amount provided
depending on the outcome of each claim. It is not possible to estimate the timing of payment of all claims and therefore a significant
proportion of the provision has been classified as non-current.

Defect claims

The group also provides for defect claims where it is found that a property has a defect subsequent to the survey being performed. In
some cases, the survey may not have identified the defect and this leads to claims being brought against the group. The value provided
for each claim is the expected value of said claim. To assess the level of fulure claims, analysis is performed on the number of surveys
that lead to future claims and the average level of payments made. This data is then used to form an expectation of the number of
claims that will be raised based on the number of surveys performed by the group.
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20. Provisions {(continued)

Group

At 1 January 2021

Recognised on acquisition of
subsidiary undertakings
Provisions made during the year

Released during the yrar

Provisions utilised in the year
At 31 December 2021

Due within one year or less
Due after more than one year

At 1 January 2020

Provisions made during the year
Released during the vear
Provisions utilised in the year
At 31 December 2020

Due within one year or less
Due after more than one year

Company

At 1 January 2021
Provisions made during the year

Released during the year

Provisions utilised in the year
At 31 December 2021

Due within one year or less
Due after mere than one year

At 1 January 2020

Transfers made during the year
Provisions made during the year
Released during the year
Provisions utilised in the year

At 31 December 2020

Due within one year or less
Due after more than one year
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Insurance Professional

Property commission indemnity
provisions clawback obligations Other Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
1,245 12,474 4,169 68 17,956
10,730 1,682 5,362 1,488 19,262
(324) 13,171 - 386 13,233
- B (748) - (748)
{574) (12,228) (1,294) (239) {14,335)
11,077 15,099 7,489 1,703 35,368
4,385 9919 5,564 1,620 21,488
6,692 5,180 1,925 83 13,880
1,404 13,668 4,015 3,384 22471
134 9,170 571 72 9,947
(258) (59) (297) (905) {1,519
(35) (10,305) (120) {2,483) {12,943)
1,245 12,474 4,169 68 17,956
867 7.934 2,944 68 11,813
378 4,540 1,225 - 6,143
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21. Share capital Year Year
ended ended

2021 2020

£000 £000

Group & Company
Allotted, called up and fully paid

10,346,500 (2020: 10,346,500} ‘A’ ordinary shares of 0.0001p each 1 1
Nil (2020: 2,105) ‘D’ ordinary shares of 0.0001p each - -
9.274 (2020: 9,274) 'E’ ordinary shares of £0.0001p each - -
6,182 (2020: 6,182) 'F’ ordinary shares of £0.0001p each - -

1 1

The holders of ‘A’ ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the Company.

The holders of ‘D', 'E' and 'F’ Ordinary shares are key members of management (including three Directors} who have entered into
agreements with the Group’s parent company, Skipton Group Heldings Limited, which include a put and call option on these shares
where the price to be paid is dependent on the long term profitability of the Group.

During the year, the ‘D’ ordinary shareholder (a Diractor) exercised his options aver 2,105 'D' ordinary shares. Consequently, Skipton
Group Holdings Limited purchased these shares, which were immediately converted into 2,105 ‘A’ ordinary shares in accordance with
the Company's Articles of Association, for £0.8m. The Company then repurchased these 2,105 ‘A’ ordinary shares for a consideration
equal to their nominal value, £0, and immediately then cancelled the shares.

The cost of the options is accounted for by Skipton Group Holdings Limited in accordance with IFRS 2 Share Based Payment.

Managerment of capital

Capital is considered to be the share capital, share premium, retained earnings and other reserves.

Group Company Group GCompany
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2021 2021 2020 2020
£000 £000 £000 £000
Capital

Ordinary shares 1 1 1 1
Share premium 25,988 25,988 25,988 25,888
Capital redemption reserve 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000
Translation reserve 9 - - -
Retained earnings 188,529 147,654 143,646 110,155

Non-controlling interest 332 - -
217,859 176,643 172,635 139,144

The Group is subject to Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) capital requirements which are monitored on a monthly basis and a formal
submission sent to the FCA on a quarterly basis. The FCA's capital requirements are in place in order to cover the regulated activities
of the Group.
The Group's objectives when rmanaging capital are:

- to safeguard the entity's ability to continue as a going concem, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and

benefits for other stakeholders; and

- to pravide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurate with the level of risk

The Group is also subject to the minimum share capital required by the Companies Act, with which it complies,

The capital position is reported to the Board regularly. The capital position is also given due consideration when corporate plans are
prepared.

The Group manages the capital batance in crder to ensure that an internal limit is not breached.
The Board considers that both external and internal capital requirements were met throughout the year.

The capital redemption reserve arose in 2007 when the Group purchased its own preference shares.
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22. Related party transactions

Group
Entity

Skipton Building Society
Skipton Building Society

Skipton Building Society

Skipton Building Saciety
Skipton Building Society

TM Group {UK) Limited

Vibrant Energy Matters
Limited

TM Group (UK} Limited
TM Group {UK} Limited
Legal Marketing
Services Limited

Hearthstone
Investments Plc

Related party
relationship
Parent Undertaking
Parent Undertaking

Parent Undertaking

Parent Undertaking
Parent Undertaking

Jdnint Venture
Partrer
Joint Venture
Partrer

Joint Venture
Partner

Joint Venture
Partner

Joint Venture
Partner
Investment

Transaction type

Interest received
Administrative
expenses
Commissions
received
Treasury Loan
Treasury Loan
Interest
Dividend

Purchase of goods
& services

Purchase of goods
& services

Sale of goods and
services

Dividend

Sale of goods and
services

Transaction amounts

2021
£000
136
{3.027)
11,144

(253,000)
{5.058)

961

(331

(330)
603

1,178

2020

£000

423
(1,755)

9,935

1,175

(2.023)

(1,185)

2,913

. 41

* The parent company of Legal Marketing Services Limited is Cybele Solutions Holdings Limited.

31 December 2021

Balance owing/{owed)

2021 2020
£000 £000
(5.240) i
646 668
(128.000) -
(224) -
961 1,175
- 2
- (1
603 665
1,178 -
384 -

* Amounts with TM Group (UK) Limited and Vibrant Energy Matters Limited are stated for the period in which they were held as Joint
Ventures, up to 8™ March 2¢21.

Company

Entity

Skipton Building
Society

Skipton Building
Society

Skipton Building
Society

Skipton Building
Society

Skipton Building
Society

Other group
companies
Other group
companies

Related Party
relationship
Parent Undertaking
Parent Undertaking
Parent Undertaking
Parent Undertaking

Parent Undertaking

Transaction Amounts

Transaction 2021

Type £000

Interest 46
receivable

Interest -
payable

Purchase of (3.027)
services

Treasury Loan (253,000)

Treasury Loan (5,056}
Interest

Purchase of -
services

Sale of 35437
services

2020
£000
65

(1,755)

32,785

Balance Owing/(owed)

2021 2020
£000 £000
- (5.224)

(5,240)
(128,000} -
(224) -
(53.445) {40,525)
42,146 8.252

On 8 March 2021 Cannells acquired Countrywide Plc {see note 24 for further details). In order to fund the transaction, a £253.0m loan
was extended to Connells Limited by Ultimate Parent Skipton Building Society, of which a balance of £128.0m (2020 £nil} remains
outstanding on the principal amount owed. At the year end, £224,000 (2020- £nil) of accrued loan interest is outstanding.

Included in cash and cash equivalents for the Group and Company is £65,500,000 (2020: £71,440,000) of cash held on depaosit with
Skipton Building Society. All transactions are at arm’s length and are provided under normal trade credit terms.
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22. Related party transactions (continued)

Buring the year, the following transactions took place in relation to the Directors and their family members:

Amount Amount

Year outstanding Year outstanding

ended 31 December ended 31 December

2021 2021 2020 2020

£ £ £ £

Estate agency fees, paid by Directors and Directors’ 1,800 - - -
family members

Lettings fees, paid by Directors and Directors’ family 7,898 - 9,550 -

members
Total 9,698 - 8,550 -

Lettings and estate agency fees paid by Directors were at rates available to all staff

Two Directors hold ordinary shares in Hearthstone Investments Limited, a Company in which the Group holds a 17.1% stake (2020:
17.1%). At 31 December 2021 the twa Directors hold 9.5% and 1.5% respectively (2020: 9.5% and 1.5%).

23. Pensions

Defined Benefit Schemes

The amounts recagnised in the Statement of Financial Position are determined as follows

Group Company Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2021 2021 2020 2020
E00C £000 £000 £000
Non-current Assets:

Raetlirement Benefit Asset 1,244 - - ~
1,244 - - -

Non-current Liabilities:
Retirement Benefit Obligation 12,973 12,973 45,307 45,307
12,973 12,973 45,307 45,307

The Group operates two defined benefit schemes (closed to new members} praviding pensions based on final pensionable pay. The
contributions are determined by qualified actuaries based on triennial valuations using the projected unit credit method

The Connells (2014) Group Pension Scheme is accounted for within Connells Limited.

The Countrywide Plc Pension Scheme is accounted for within Countrywide Limited (formerly Countrywide Plc).

Both Schemes are subject to the funding legislation outfined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came inte force on 30 December 2005.
This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator, and Guidance Notes adopted by the Financial Reporting Council,

sets out the framework for funding defined benefit occupational pension schemes in the UK.

The Trustees of these Schemes are required to act in the best interest of the Schemes’ beneficiaries. The appointment of the Trustee
is determined by the Schemes’ trust cocumentation.
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23. Pensions {continued)

Connells (2014) Group Pension Scheme

The Connells (2014) Group Pension scheme is accounted for within Connells Limited. The scheme is now closed to new members and
to the future accrual of benefits.

A full actuarial valuation was carried out as at the date set out below in accordance with the scheme funding requirements of the
Pensions Act 2004 and the funding of the scheme is agreed between the Group and the Trustee in line with those requirements.
These in particular require the deficit to be calculated using prudent, as opposed to best estimate actuarial assumptions. The most
recent actuarial valuation for the scheme showed the following:

Valuation date Members Deficit Recovery period Annual contribution
£000 £000
30 April 2020 973 64,132 15 years 2,880

Following the completion of the 2020 actuarial valuation, the Company agreed a revised deficit reduction plan including a lump sum
contribution of £20m paid in March 2021 and continuing annual deficit reduction contributions of £2,880k (increasing by 1.95% per
annum from 1 April 2022) until 31 May 2028 in order to extinguish the funding deficit.

Scheme expenses and levies to the Pension Protection Fund are payable by the Group as and when they are due and are accounted
for within administrative expenses. For the purposes of IAS19 the actuarial valuation, which was carried out by a qualified independent
actuary, has been updated on an approximate basis to 3t December 2021,

The assets of the Scheme are held in separate Trustee-administered funds. Contributions to the Scheme are assessed in accordance
with the advice of an independent qualified actuary using the projected unit method.

The main financial assumptions used to calculate Scheme liabilities under IAS19 are:

2021 2020

Group & Group &

Company Company

Discount rate 1.80% 1.45%
Retail Price Inflation (RPI) rate 340% 3.00%
Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) rate 2.90% 2.50%
Increase to defined benefits during deferment (CPt link) 2.90% 2.50%
Increases to pension payment (CPI link) 1.95-2.90% 1.95-2.50%

The most significant non-financial assumption is the assumed rate of longevity. For the year ended 31 December 2021, this has been
based on mortality rates that are 98% of the S3PxA tables projected using CMI_2020 converging to 1.00% p.a. The tables adopted
imply the following life expectancy:

Non-retired members

2021 2020
Male retiring in the year 22.1 years 22.1 years
Female retiring in the year 24 4 years 24.3 years
Males retiring in 2036 22.7 years 22.8 years
Females retiring in 2036 25.2 years 252 years

Sensitivity analysis regarding the significant assumptions is disclosed in the critical judgements and estimates section.

The tabte below shows the defined benefit pension liability which is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position:

Group & Group &

Company Company

2021 2020

£000 £000

Fair value of plan assels 118,173 94,118
Present value of defined benefit obligations (131,148) (1383,425)
Defined benefit pension liability {12,973) {45,307)
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23. Pensions (continued)

The present value of Scheme liabilities is measured by discounting the best estimate of future cash flows to be paid out by the Scheme
using the projected unit credit method. The value calculated in this way is reflected in the net [ability in the Statement of Financial
Position as shown above. The projected unit credit method is a valuation method in which each potential cash flow from the schemes
{e.g. annual pension payment, or potenfial lump sum payment on death) is multiplied by an assumed probabifity of payment and
discounted between the valuation date and the time the payment is needed.

The table below sets out the reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance of the fair value of Scheme assets and
present value of Scheme liabilities for the year:

2021 2020
Group & Group &
Company Company
£000 £000
Fair value of assets at the start of the year 94,118 86,976
Return on plan assets (excluding amounts recognised in interest income) 4,555 7,318
Interest income 1,495 1,764
Ongoing deficit contributions 2.880 2,880
Lump sum contribution 20,000 -
Benefits paid {(4.875) {4.818)
Fair value of assets at end of year 118,173 94,118
2021 2020
Group & Group &
Company Company
£000 £000
Defined benefit obligation at start of the year 139,425 125,145
Interest cost 1,986 2,520
Actuarial (gains)/losses (5.390) 15,768
Benefits paid (4.879) (4,818)
Past service costs - 811
Expenses - 1
Defined benefit obligation at end of year 131,146 139,425
The tabie also sets out the fair value of the Scheme assets by each major category:
2021 2020
Group & Group &
Company Company
£000 £000
Diversified Growth Vehicles 10,361 50,780
Liability Driven Investments’ 35,178 43,172
Cash 17,237 166
Debt 23,540
Equities 31,857 -
Total fair value of plan assets 118:173 94,118

! Liability Driven Investments (“LDI") are investments in assets which are expected to behave in a similar manner to liabifities and
therefare aim to provide a better match against liability movements than conventional bonds or gilts.

The Scheme invests in an LD fund to aim to provide protection against intérest rate and inflation movements. The LDI fund aims to
cover 95% of the interest rate sensitivity and 95% of the inflation sensitivity of the funded liabilities of the scheme on the scheme
funding basis.

None of the fair values of the assets shown above include any of the Group's own financial instruments or any property accupied by, or
other assets used by, the Group. All of the Scheme's assets have & quoted market price in an active market with the exception of the
Trustee's bank account balance. !t is the policy of the Trustee and the Group to review the investment strategy at the time of each
funding vaiuation. The Trustee's investment objectives and the processes undertaken to measure and manage the risks inherent in the
scheme investment strategy are documented in the Scheme's Statement of Investment Principles.
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23. Pensions (continued)

The table below shaws the expense recognised in the Income statement :

2021 2020

Group & Group &

Company Company

£000 £000

Interest cost 491 756
Past service costs - 811
Total 491 1,567

The best estimate of the ayyregale contributions expected to be paid to the Scheme during the year ending 31 December 2022 are
£2,0822,000 (2021: £22,880,000).

Countrywide Pic Pension Scheme

The Countrywide Plc Pension Scheme is accounted for within Countrywide Limited (formerly Countrywide Pic). The scheme is now
closed to new members and to the future accrual of benefits.

The funding arrangements were reviewed as part of the most recent completed valuation as at 5 April 2021, The Group (with the
trustees of the Scheme) are responsible for ensuring that pension arrangements are adequately funded and the directors have agreed
a funding programme with the trustees to bring down the deficit in the defined benefit scheme aver an appropriate period.

Scheme expenses and levies to the Pension Protection Fund are payabie by the Group as and when they are due and are accounted
for within administrative expenses. For the purposes of IAS19 the actuarial valuation, which was carried out by a qualified independent
actuary, has been updated on an approximate basis to 31 December 2021.

The assets of the Scheme are held in separate Trustee-administered funds. Contributions to the Scheme are assessed in accordance
with the advice of an independent qualified actuary using the projected unit method.

The main financial assumptions used to calculate Scheme liabilities under IAS19 are:

2021 2020
Group Group

Rate of increase in pensions in payment and deferred pensions:
= Onbenefits earned prior to 8 April 1897 4.00% -
s Onbenefits eamed between 6 April 1997 and 1 December 1999 4.25% -
= On benefits earned after 1 December 1999 3.30% -
Discount rate 1.80% -
Retail Price Inflation (RPI) rate 4.25% -
Consumer Price Inflation (CP1) rate 2.90% -
Increase to defined benefits during deferment {CPI link) 2.90% -
Increases to pension payment (CPI link) 1.95-2.90% -

The most significant non-financial assumption is the assumed rate of longevity. For the year ended 31 December 2021, this has been
based on mortality rates that are 98% of the S3PxA tables projected using CMI_2020 converging to 1.06% p.a. The tables adopted
imply the following life expectancy:

Non-retired members

2021 2020
Male retiring in the year 219 years -
Female retiring in the year 24.2 years -
Males retiring in 2041 22 9 years -
Females retiring in 2041 254 years -

Sensitivity analysis regarding the significant assumptions is disclosed in the critical judgements and estimates section.
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23. Pensions (continued)

The table below shows the defined benefit pension asset which is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position:

Group Group

2021 2020

£000 £000

Fair value of plan assets 51,779 -
Present value of defined benefit abligations (5Q.535) -
Defined benefit pension asset 1,244 -

The present value of Scheme liabilities is measured by discounting the best estimate of future cash flows to be paid out by the Scheme
using the projected unit credit method. The value calculated in this way is reflected in the net asset in the Statement of Financial
Position as shown above. The projected unit credit method is a valuation method in which each potential cash flow from the schemes
{e.g. annual pension payment, or potential lump sum payment on death) is multiplied by an assumed probability of payment and
discounted between the valuation date and the lime the payment is needed.

The table below sets out the reconciliation from the opening batance to the clasing balance of the fair value of Scheme assets and
present value of Scheme liabilities far the year:

2021 2020

Group Group

£000 £000

Fair value of assets at the start of the year 51,535 -

Returr on pfan assets (excluding amounts recognised in interest incomej 2,057 -

Interest income 719 -

Ongoing deficit contributions - -

Expenses {257) -

Benefits paid 2,275) -

Fair value of assets at end of year 51,779 -

2021 2020

Group Group

£000 £000

Defined benefit obligation at start of the year 51,627 -

interest cost 722 -

Actuarial losses/ (gains) 461 -

Benefits paid [(2.275) -

Defined benefit obligation at end of year 50,535 -
The tabie also sets out the fair value of the Scheme assets by each major category:

2021 2020

Group Group

EDOD £000

Diversified Growth Vehicles 3,642 -

Liability Driven Investments' 4377 -

Cash 589 -

Debt 1411 -

Absolute Return bond fund 4,791 -

Insured Pensioners 36,868 -

Total fair value of plan assets 51,779 -

! Liability Driven [nvestments (“‘LDI"} are investments in assets which are expected to behave in a similar manner to liabilities and
therefore aim to provide a better match against liability movements than conventional bonds or gilts.

Insured pensianers and cash constitute unguoted investments. All other investments are managed funds either quoted directly or

comprising quoted investments. The Group does not have any of its own transferable instruments, property occupied or ather assets
used held as plan assets.
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23. Pensions {continued)

The table below shows the expense recognised in the Income statement:

2021 2020

Group Group

£000 £000

Interest cost 3 -
Expenses 257 -
Total 260 -

The best estimate of the aggregate contributions expected to be paid to the Scheme during the year ending 31 December 2022 is
£2.0m.

Risks

Both Schemes are exposed to the following investment risks:

. Credit risk: this is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial lass for the other party by failing to
discharge an obligation.

. Market risk: this comprises currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

. Currency risk: this is the risk that the fair value ar future cash flows of a financial asset will fluctuate because of changes in
foreign exchange rates.

. Interest rate risk: this is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial asset will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates.
. Other price risk: this is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial asset will fluctuate because of changes in

market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk}, whether those changes are caused by factors
specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all simitar financiat instruments traded in the market.

The main investment objective for the Trustee of the Schemes is to maintain a portfolio of suitable assets to meet, together with future
contributions, the benefits payable under the Trust Deed and Rules as they fall due. Both schemes have exposure to investment risks
because of the investments it makes to implement its investment strategy, as detailed in the Statement of Investment Principles.

The Trustee manages investment risks, including credit risk and market risk, within agreed risk limits which are set taking into account
the Schemes’ strategic investment abjectives. These investment objectives and risk limits are implemented through the investment
management agreements in place with the Scheme's investment managers and are monitored by the Trustee by regular reviews of the
investment portfolios.

{t) Creditrisk
Both Schemes invest in pooled investment vehicles and are therefore directly exposed to credit risk in relation to the instruments
held in pooled investment vehicles and is indirectly exposed to credit risks arising on the financial instruments held by the pooled
investment vehicles.

The Schemes’ holdings in pooled investment vehicles are unrated. Direct credit risk arising from pooled investment vehicles is
mitigated by the underlying assets of the pooled arrangements being ring-fenced from the pooled manager, the regulatory
environments in which the pooled managers operate and diversification of investments amongst a number of pooled arrangements.

The investment manager carries aut own due diligence checks before a new pooled fund is invested in, and on an ongeing basis
monitor any changes to the regulatory and operating environment of the underlying pooled investment managers

Indirect credit risk arises in relation to underlying investments held in the LDl pooled investment vehicles, as well as DGF pooled
investment vehicles due to the bond holdings within these funds.

The LDI funds use robust collateralisation management procedures so as to mitigate the impact of credit risk.

{ii) Currency risk
The Schemes' assets are not subject to indirect currency risk because none of the Schemes' investments are held in overseas
markets via pooled investment vehicles.

The Schemes do not take explicit unhedged positions in averseas investments through their investment strategy, either directly or
indirectly via pooled investment vehicles.

The Diversified Growth Fund managers may from time to time take unhedged overseas investment positions in pursuit of growth
opportunities or to reduce overall fund risk, aithough their neutral position is considered to be 100% Sterling.

(iii) Interest rate risk
The Schemes' assets are subject to indirect interest rate risk through their LDI pooled investment vehicles, as well as DGF pooled
investment vehicles due to the bond holdings within these funds.

The Schemes’ liabilities are exposed to a significant level of interest rate movement and for this reason it is desirable for the assets

to be exposed to interest rate risk. The Scheme manages the interest rate risk by considering the net risk when taking account of
the liabilities valued.
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23. Pensions (continued)

{iv) Other price risk
Other price risk arises principally in relation to the Schemes’ return seeking portfolio which inciudes DGFs held in pooted
investment vehicles, as well as the LDI pooled investment vehicles due to the inflation sensitive elements of the fund. Both
Schemes manage this exposure to other price risk by constructing a diverse portfotic of investments across various markets.

Defined contribution schemes

The Group also operates a number of Group Personal Pension Schemes, the assets of which are held separatety from those of the
Group, as independently administered funds. The amount charged to the Income Statement in respect of defined contribution schemes
is the contribution payable in the year and amounted to £15,247k (2020: £5,772k). There were no outstanding contributions (2020 £nil)
at the end of the financial year.

24 Acquisitions
Acquisition of Countrywide

On 8 March 2021, Connells acquired the entire issued share capitai of Countrywide for £3.95 per share for a total cash consideration of
£131.8m. Countrywide is a property services group with over 800 branches across the UK. The acquisition has complemented the
Group’s existing services, enhanced its value proposition for customers and benefitted consumers as a whole. The Group continues to
believe that a well-invested high street branch network, coupled with a diversified brand pertfolic, provides an attractive offering to its
customers. The Group considers that the branch network of Countrywide is a key asset and intends to maintain and enhance
Countrywide's current branding and service offering, while leveraging its own track record of positive investment in people and
technology. An added benefit has been that the enlarged Connells Group can provide exciting career opportunities for both Connells
and Countrywide employees, and has the potential to attract the best talent in the industry across all areas of expertise.

The table below sets out the values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. In accordance with IFRS 3 Business
Combinations, the acquisition accounting is subject to finalisation within 12 months of the acquisition data.

Book Value Fair Value Accounting policy Fair value at 8
at 8 March Adjustments adjustments March 2021
2021 £000 £000 £000 £000
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents {note 1) 10.801 - - 10,801
Trade and other receivables 88213 3,566 (1,064} ap.715
Property, Plant and Equipment (note 2) 12,918 - (8,497) 4,421
Right-of-use assets (note 10) 32,437 14,148 - 46,585
Intangible assets (note 3) 56,923 113,861 (10,525) 160,259
Investments {notes 4 to 6) 3,332 31,528 - 34,860
Deferred tax assets (note 7) 20,377 11,176 3.816 35,370
Total assets 225,001 174,279 (16,270) 383,009
Liabilities
Trade and other payables 109,596 (168) - 109,430
Corporation tax 1,280 44 - 1,334
Provisions 18,779 481 - 18,260
Amaunts owed to credit institutions (note 8 94,060 - - 94,000
Deferred tax liabilities (note 9) B.484 22 3683 - 30,867
Retirement benefit obiigations 838 (796} - 92
Other liabilities 1,775 - - 1,775
Lease Liabilities 65,681 10,685 - 76,366
Total liabilities 300,493 32,631 - 333,124
Net assets/(liabilities) (75.493) 141,648 ~(16,270) 49,885
Fair value of net assets acquired 49.885
Goodwill arising on acquisition 81,871
Total consideration 131,756
Notes

1. With respect to ‘Cash and cash equivalents’, amounts acquired on 8 March 2021 of £10.8m excludes fixed deposits not immediately

accessible of £10.8m, stated within trade and other receivahbles.

2. The accounting palicy adjustment of £(8.5)m is to align with the Group's existing capitalisation policies.
3

The total fair value of intangible assets represents amounts in respect of brands £54 7m, sales pipeline £28.5m, customer contracts and
relationships £74.5m and computer software £2.6m. The fair value adjustments totalling £113.9m refiect management's assessments,
using methodologies that are in line with industry best practice. The accounting policy adjustment of £{10.5)m is to align with the Group's
existing capitalisation policy for computer software. Brands are judged by management to have an indefinite life; the amounts in respect
of other intangibles will be amortised over periods of up to five years (sales pipeling: less than one year, customer contracts and
relationships: one to five years; computer software: three to five years).
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24, Acquisitions (continued)

4

10.

The book value of investments acquired includes £3.2m in respect of Countrywide's 33.3% shareholding as at 8 March 2021 in TM
Group (UK) Limited {TMG). This investment was deemed to have a fair value at that date of £29.3m, based on sale proceeds which the
Group subsequently received on disposal of this investment; a fair value adjustment of £26.1m is therefore recognised at acquisition. In
addition, Connefls separately held an existing 33.3% sharehoiding in TMG; prior ta 8 March 2621, the Group accournted for this
investment as a joint venture using the equity accounting method. Immediately following the acquisition of Countrywide on 8 March 2021,
the Group held a combined shareholding in TMG of 66.6%; management judged that control of TMG was acquired by the Group with
effect from that date such that TMG became a subsidiary undertaking. The acquisition of TMG as a subsidiary undertaking was achieved
in stages {a 'step-acquisition’) and, in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the Group remeasured its previously held 33.3%
shareholding in TMG to fair value as at 8 March 2021: the Group assessed this fair value to be £29.3m, based on sale proceeds which
the Group subsequentty received on disposal of this investment, and the resulting gain of £27.1m is recognised in the Income Statement
for the year (included within the line item ‘Fair value gains on step-acquisition of Group undertakings'). Also on1% March 2021, the Group
disposed of a 1.9% shareholding in TMG for sale proceeds of £0.6m; the cash proceeds for this disposal were received in July 2021. On
8 July 2021, the Group disposed of its reinainiyg 84.7% shareholding in 1MG tor cash proceeds of £58.0m.

The book value of investments acquired also includes £0.1m in respect of Countrywide's 15.4% shareholding as at 8 March 2021 in
Vibrant Energy Matters Limited (VEM). This investment was deemed to have a fair value at that date of £0.3m; a fair value adjusiment of
£0.2m is therefore recognised at acquisition. In addition, Connells separately held an existing 46.1% sharehalding in VEM, prior to 8
March 2021, the Group accounted for this investment as a joint venture using the equity accounting method. Following the acquisition of
Countrywide, the Group held a combined shareholding in VEM of 61.5% as at 8 March 2021, management judged that control of VEM
was acquired by the Group with effect from that date such that VEM became a subsidiary undertaking. The acquisition of VEM as a
subsidiary undertaking was achieved in stages and, in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the Group remeasured its
previously held 46.1% shareholding in VEM to fair value as at 8 March 2021; the Group assessed this fair value to be £0.5m and the
resufting loss of £0.2m is recognised in the Income Statement for the year (included within the line item 'Fair vaiue gains on step-
acquisition of Group undertakings’). ©n 24 June 2021, the Group acquired a further 12.6% shareholding in VEM for cash consideration of
E0.6m. As at 31 December 2021 the Group held a 78.4% sharehalding in VEM.

The fair value of investments includes £5.1m in respect of Countrywide's equity share investment as at 8 March 2021 in Tactile Limited
(trading as Fixfla), which was disposed of by the Group on 21 May 2021 for sale proceeds of £5.1m. The book value of this investment
as at 8 March 2021 was £nil and therefore a fair value adjustment of £5.1m is recognised at acquisition to reflect the amount
subsaequently received on disposal. In addition, Connells separately held an existing shareholding in Fixflo which was also disposed of by
the Group on 21 May 2021 for sale proceeds of £2.7m; total sale proceeds received by the Group for its combined sharehelding in Fixflo
were therefore £7 8m.

At 8 March 2021 Countrywide had unused tax losses of £64.4m for which the related deferred tax assets had not been recognised;
Countrywide had not previously recognised these assets due to uncertainties regarding the entity's future profitability. Management's
latest trading forecasts now indicate it is likely that the tax losses could be utilised within three to five years. A fair value adjustment is
therefore made to recognise deferred tax assets of £12.2m in respect of these tax losses. In addition, there are further fair value
adjustments of £{1.1)m that relate to several minor items, taking the total to £11.2m as shown above. The accounting policy adjustment
of £3.8m relates to the deferred tax impacts of the other accounting policy adjustments shown in the table above

Amounts owed to credit institutions consist of £1.0m of non-interest bearing loans and a £93.0m rolling credit facility.

The fair value adjustment of £22.4m relates to the deferred tax impact of amounts recognised at acquisition in respect of intangible
assets (see note 3 above),

The Group measured the acquired fease liabilities using the present vaiue of the remaining lease payments at the date of acquisition,
resulting in a fair value adjustment to increase lease liabilities by £16.7m. The related right-of-use assets were measured at an amount
equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted for favourable/unfavourable lease terms relative to market terms, and impairment was assessed by
reference to branch-level cash generating units; this resulted in fair value adjustments to increase right-of-use assets by £14.1m.

At the acquisition date, the contractual amount outstanding of trade and other receivables was £83.1m; the best estimate of amounts
not expected to be coliected was £2.9m. The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Countrywide is mainly attributable to expected cash
flows from new customers abtained post acquisition through improved market penetration in the branch network and significant
synergies which are expected to be realised. The acquisition brings together two highly complementary businesses, and synergies are
expected to be achieved through management driving revenue opportunities in the Countrywide business, particularly through building
a stronger and more efficient branch network, The business will invest in technology and people to improve its service offerings, while
maintaining its branch network. The goodwill arising on acquisition is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

From the date of acquisition, the acquired Countrywide business contributed total income of £516. tm and profit befare tax of £60.9m to
the Group's consolidated Income Statement for the year ended 31 December 2021; these amounts exclude the impact of Group-level
itemns relating to this acquisition, including an accounting adjustment to charge £52.4m of amortisation during the year against
intangible assets recognised on acquisition. If the results of Countrywide were consolidated for the full financial year, as if the
acquisition had taken place at 1 January 2021, the Group's total income for the year ended 31 December 2021 would have been
£1,103.8m and Group profit before tax for the year ended 31 December 2021 would have been £107 4m; these amounts have been
determined assuming all other things being equal, including an assumption that the fair values of assets acquired would not be
materially different if the acquisition date had been 1 January 2021. Transaction costs of £2.1m were incurred by the Group in 2021 in
relation to the acquisition (2020: £nil). These costs were expensed to the Income Statement and are included within ‘Administrative
expenses’.

Key judgements

The fair value calculation of the intangible assets acquired on acquisition is a key judgement area where there is estimation uncertainty.
Thae intangibles predominantly relate to estate agency and commercial brands, sales pipelines. and customer contracts identified in the
surveying, lettings and commercial areas of the business. The brands have been valued using the relief from royalty method. with the
key inputs being the royalty rate, forecast revenue streams and long term growth rate. The sales pipelines were valued using the
straight income approach applying an estimation of the costs to convert the pipeline. The customer contracts were valued using the
excess earnings method with key inputs including the forecast cash flows and expected customer attrition rate.
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24. Acquisitions {continued)

Acquisition and disposal of TM Group (UK} Limited

TM Group (UK) Limited (TMG), a provider of property searches and sefvices, became a subsidiary undertaking on 8 March 2021. For
details of this acquisition, which was achieved in stages (a ‘step-acquisition’), see footnote 4 to the table shown above.

Having met the conditions in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale, the Group's interest in TMG was classified at 8
March 2021 as held for sale. The Group's interest in TMG was measured to fair value at 8 March 2021, when TMG became a
subsidiary undertaking, and amounts were based on the expecled sale proceeds. Following a minor disposal on 19 March 2021, the
Group disposed of its remaining interest in TMG on 8 July 2021 for cash consideration of £58.0m; as the Group’s interest in TMG was
held at fair vaiue, there was no gain or loss on disposal.

Acquisition of Vibrant Energy Matters Limited

Vibrant Energy Matters Limited (VEM), a provider of home energy, property and eco services, became a subsidiary undertaking on 8
March 2021. For details of this acquisition, which was achieved in stages {a 'step-acquisition'), see footnote § to the tabie above. The
revenue generated in 2021 by this business was £6.7m and it contributed £0.3m in profit before tax.

Cther acquisitions

During the year, the Group acquired a further three small estate agency and/or lettings businesses for total consideration of £1.7m, of
which £0.4m is deferred. Goodwill recognised was £0.7m {see Note 11 above). The revenue and pre-tax profit generated by these
businesses in 2021 was £2 6million and £0.8 million respectively.

During the prior year, the Group acquired four small estate agency and/or lettings businesses for total consideration of £1.5m, of which
£170k is deferred. Goodwill recognised was £864k. The revenue and gre-tax profit generated by these businesses in 2020 was
£3.Cmillion and £0.7 million respectively.

25. Government grants

2021 2020

Group Group

£000 £000

At 1 January 124 -

Received during the year (4,952} (25,525)

Released to the income statement 4,828 25,649
At 31 December I T 124

Current - 124

Non-current - -

Government grants were received during 2021 relating to business rates relief £4.8m (2020: £3.7m) within other operating expenses in
note 2. Amounts claimed refating to the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme were £nif (2020: £21.2m within employee benefit
expenses in note 7) and Retail Cash Grant Scheme £nil (2020: £0.8m within other income in note 6).

On acquisition of Countrywide £22.5m VAT payments had been deferred, these were repaid during the year
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26. Financial instruments
Financial risks

A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability of another entity. The principal
financial risks to which the Group is exposed are liquidity risk, market risk and credit risk, these are monitored on a regular basis by
management. Each of these is considered below.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and Company are not able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due or can do so only at
excessive cost. The Group's and Company's liquidity policy is to maintain sufficient liquid resources to cover imbalances and
fluctuations in funding, to maintain solvency of the Group and Company and to enable the Group and Company to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due. This is achieved through maintaining a prudenl level of liguld assets and through rigorous management
control of the growth of the business.

The following are contractual maturities of financial fiabilities, including interest payments and excluding the impact of netting
agreements:

2021
In more
than 3 In more
months than one
In not more but not year but not
Carrying Contractual than 3 less than more than 5 In more
Group amount cash flows months 1 year years than 5 years
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Trade and other payables 154,335 154,335 133,039 - 7,635 13,661
Amounts owing to group 133,484 133,464 5,240 8,772 35,088 84,363
companies
Lease habilities 98,512 107,749 4,330 20,709 63,070 13,631
Total 386,311 395,539 142,609 29,481 105,794 117,655
Company
Trade and other payables 24,828 24,827 6,543 - 7,635 10,650
Amounts owing to group 186,910 186,910 5,240 62,217 35,089 84,363
companies
Lease habilities 182 184 19 57 108 -
Total 211,920 211,921 11,802 62,274 42,832 95,013
2020
In more
than 3 In more
months than one
Group In not more but not year but not
Carrying Contractual than 3 less than more than 5 In more
amount cash Rows months 1 year years than 5 years
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £0C0
Trade and other payables 60,254 60,254 48,669 - 6,010 5575
Amounts owing to group 5224 5,224 5,224 - - -
companies
Lease Liabilities 45,148 52,262 3,163 8.155 27,211 13,733
Total 110,626 117,740 57,056 8,155 33,221 14,308
Company
Trade and other payables 13,715 13,715 5,642 - 6,01¢ 2,063
Amounts owing to group 45,749 45,749 45,749 - - -
companies
Total 59,464 59,464 51,391 - 6,010 2,063

There are no differences between the fair values of financial assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts showing in the Statement
of Financial Position.
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26. Financial instruments (continued)
Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.
Market risk comprises two types of risk: interest rate risk and currency risk.

Currency risk

The Graup and Company are nat expased o any currency risk as alt transactions are denominated in Sterling.

Interest rate risk

The Group and Company have no interest bearing liabilities. The Group and Company are exposed to movements in interest rates on
intercompany balances and on monies held on deposit with its ultimate parent undertaking, Skipton Building Society. This exposure is
monitored on a continuous basis,

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if 2 customer fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the
Group’s receivables from customers. Based on historic default rates, the Group believes that no impairment provision is necessary in
respect of most frade receivables not averdue or over due by up to 30 days. For maximum credit exposure see note 16. Management
carefully manages its exposure to credit rigk.

The Group's financial assets (excluding assets held at FVTPL} at the year end were as follows:

2021 2020

Group Group

£000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents 119,057 103,053
Trade receivables 67,584 24,060
Qther receivables 13,682 3.523
Amounts due from ultimate parent undertaking 6546 668
200,979 131,304

As stated in note 16, trade and other receivables are current assets and are expected to canvert to cash over the next twelve months

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group. The Group is exposed to credit risk from sales. [tis Group
policy to assess the credit risk of major new customers before entering contracts. The majority of customers use the Group’s services
as part of a hausing transaction and consequently the sales are paid from the proceeds of the hause sale. The majority of the
commercial customers and the major lenders, customers of the Survey & Valuations and Asset Management businesses, are targe
financial institutions and as such the credit risk is not significant. The maximum credit risk exposure relating to financial assets is
represented by the carrying value as at the balance sheet date. The following table presents a breakdown of the gross trade
receivables between the three main types of customer:

2021 2020

Group Group

£000 £000

Individual customers 20,711 5,540
Maijor lenders 17,373 1,852
Other commercial customers 33,654 19,343
71,738 26,535

The Group uses an allowance matrix to measure the expected credit losses (ECLs) of trade receivables, which comprise a large
number of small balances. Lass rates are based on actual credit loss experience over the previous year, and adjusted for the Group’s
view of current economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. However given the low levels of impairment loss
experience, the ECL allowance is very small.

63



Connells Limited
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

26. Financial instruments (continued)

The following table presents a breakdown of cash at bank and short term deposits by credit rating of the institution where it is held:

2021 2020

Group Group

£000 £000

A+ 53,557 29,229
A- 65,500 73,824
119,057 103,053

Capital management

The Board's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future
development of the business. The Board monitors the return on capital and level of dividends to ordinary sharehoiders. There were no
changes in the Groyp's or Company's approach to capital management during the year. The Group and Company are subject to FCA
capital requirements as discussed in note 21.

Valuation techniques

Fair values are determined using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the
measurements.

Level 1
The most reliable fair values of financial instruments and assets held at FVTPL are quoted market prices in an actively traded market.
Examples of these are gilts and sovereign debt.

Level 2

These are valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are taken from observable market data. These incfude valuation models
used to calculate the present value of expected future cash flows and may be employed either when no active market exists or when
there are quoted prices available for similar instruments in active markets. Examples of level 2 instruments are certificates of deposit
and interest rate swaps.

Level 3

These are valuation techniques for which any one or more significant input is not based on observable market data. The objective of
valuation technigues is to arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the price of the financial instrument at the reporting date that
would have been determined by market participants acting at arm’s-length.

The tables below summarise the fair value measurement basis used for assets and liabilities held at fair value:

Quoted Valuation Valuation
prices in technigues techniques
active using using significant
markets observable unobservable
Financial Assets/ Liabilities (level 1) inputs (level 2) inputs (level 3) Total
£00C £000 £000 £000
Group and Company — 2021
Quoted shares 221 - - 221
Unquoted shares - - 12,555 12,555
Put option liabilities - (8,710) - (8.710)
Total 221 (8,710} 12,555 4,066
Group and Company - 2020
Quoted shares 213 - - 213
Unquoted shares - - 8,071 8,071
Put option liabilities - (6,908) - (6,908}
Total 213 {6,908) 8,071 1,376
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Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Group

Loan from Ultimate Parent
Undertaking (Note 22)
Armounts owed to credit
institutions (Note 18)
Lease liabilities (Note 19)
Total

Company

Loan from Ultimate Parent
undertaking {Note 22)
Amounts owed to credit
institutions (Note 18)
Lease liabilities (Note 19)
Total

Group

Loan from Ultimate Parent
Undertaking {Note 22)
Amounts owed to credit
institutions (Note 18}
Lease liabilities (Note 19)
Total

Company

Loan from Ultimate Parent
undertaking {Note 22)
Amounts owed to credit
institutions {Note 18)
Lease liabilities (Note 19)
Total

Connells Limited
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Interest and

At1 other non- At 31

January Arising on Cash cash December

2021 Acquisition Additions Flows movements 2021

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 E00Q

- - 253,000 {129.832) 5.056 128,224

- 94,000 - (93,000) - 1,000

45148 76,366 7426 40,372 9,944 98,512

45,148 170,366 260,426 {263,204} 15,000 227,736

- - 253,000 (129,832) 5,056 128,224

- - 208 (25) 1 182

- - 253,206 (129,857} 5,057 128,406
Interest and

At 1 other non- At 31

January Arising on Cash cash December

2020 Acquisition Additions Flows movements 2020

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

48,331 - 6,730 (13.931) 4.018 45,148

48,331 - 6,730 (13,931) 4,018 45,148
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27. Capital commitments

Capital commitments at the year-end far which na provision has been made were as follows:

Group
Year ended Year ended
2021 2020
£000 £000
Motor vehicles 9,535 -
Improvements 142 -
At 31 December 9,677 -
Company Year ended Year ended
2021 2020
£000 £000
Motor vehicles 8,414 -
Improvements - -
At 31 December 8,414 -

28. Client monies

As at 31 December 2021, monies held by the Group in separate bank accounts on behalf of clients amounted to £453,222 000 (2020:
£88,945,000). Neither this armount, nor the matching liabilities to the related clients are included in the Group balance sheet.

Client funds are protected by the Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS) under which the Government guarantees amounts
up to £85,000. This guarantee applies to each individual client, not the total of depasits held by the Group.

29. Uitimate parent undertaking

The Group’s ultimate parent undertaking is Skipton Building Society, which is registered in the United Kingdom. The smallest and
largest Group in which the results are consclidated is that headed by Skiptan Building Society. A copy of the Skipton Building Society
annual report and accounts into which the resuits of this Company are consolidated is available from:

The Secretary

Skipton Building Society
The Baitey

Skipton

North Yorkshire

BD23 1DN
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Courtry of Group
Company rame " resiparabine . irtarast
A3 Countrywide Limited e UK. I

Abbotts Estate Agents Ltd 3 LK

Accord Properties Limited 3 UK

Acornsrf Limited 3 LK rdirant
Aeromind Limited 3 UK

AgencyPro Limited 7 UK

Alan de Maid Limited 3 A,

Alan Harvey Property Services Limited 3 = Irgiract
Aliguard Lega! Services Limited 1 97,8 130 irtdf
AMG North East Limited 2 LK 1007 rchrat
AMG Projects Limited 2 [VES 1000 Iretirant
Anderson Estate Agents Limited 4 Lk 1560 nchirat
APW Holdings Limited 3 UK 1004 n Iretiract
APW Management {Cobham}) Limited 3 LK T
APW Management {Esher) Limited 3 UK irdrat
APW Management {Sunninghill) Limited 3 Uk Ipedract
APW Management (Weybridge) Limited 3 L

APW Management Services Limited S e

Ashton Burkinshaw (Franchising) Lirmnited 3 LK

Ashton Burkinshaw Limited 2 [SE

Associated Employers Limitad b LK

Austin & Wyatt Limited 3 LK

Avon Property (Wilts) Limited 2 WK

Bairstow Eves Countrywide Limited 3 K

Bairstow Eves Limited 2 [E18

Baker Harris Saunders Group Limited 3 LK

Barrys (Surrey) Limited 3 oK

Beresford Adams Limited 2 S

Berkeley Private Capital Ltd i [BES

Blundells Property Services Limited 3 LK

Bridgfords Countrywide Limited 2 LK

Bridgfords Limited 3 L, .

Buckell & Ballard Limited 3 LA 1557 rriva
Bullock and Lees (Christchurch) Limited 3 K He g
Burchell Edwards (Midlands) Limited ¢ K Deznt
Bureau Properties Limited b [ It
Buy to Let Club Limited 1 R 130 rorge
CAG Overseas Investments Limited 3 K 1700 It g
Capital Fine Homes Limited 3 LS ARV e

Capital Private Finance Limited 1 K et
Cardinal Mortgage Service Limited (The) 3 M 1750
Carol Whyte Property Management Limited . LK 1507

i
kY

>

5

Carson & Company Estate Agents Limited

Castle Moat at Taunton Limited 3 K 10
CEA Holdings Limited 3 (N1

Chancery Law Services Limited 1 K
Chamberlains Lettings Limited 2 BEN T
Chamberlains SGS Holdings Limited 3 - i
Chappell & Matthews Limited 3 [ 100
Chattings Limited 3 K 1287,
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Coamear . cara

CHK (Cobham) Ltd

CHK (Esher) Limited

Cliftons International Ltd

Connell Wilson Limited

Connells Estate Agents Limited

Connells Financial Services Limited

Connells Residential

Connells Survey & Valuation Limited
Conveyancing Direct Limited

Copleys of York Limited

Cosec Management Services Limited
Countrywide Conveyancing Limited
Countrywide Corporate Property Services Limited
Countrywide Estate Agents

Countrywide Estate Agents {South) Limited
Countrywide Estate Agents FS Limited
Countrywide Estate Agents Nominees Limited
Countrywide Financial Services (South) Limited
Countrywide Group Heldings Limited
Countrywide Home Movers Services Limited
Countrywide Limited

Countrywide Mortgage Services Limited
Countrywide North Limited

Countrywide Part Exchange Solutions Limited
Countrywide Principal Services Limited
Countrywide Property Auctions Limited
Countrywide Property Care Solutions Limited
Countrywide Property Lawyers Limited
Countrywide Relocation Solutions Limited
Countrywide Repossession Solutions Limited
Countrywide Residential Investments Limited
Countrywide Residential Lettings Limited
Countrywide Residential Lettings Nominees Limited
Countrywide Surveyors Limited

Countrywide UK Limited

CRL Company Directors Limited

CRL Company Secretaries Limited

Curtis and Bains Limited

Dickinson Harrison Limited

Duck & Hedges Group Ltd

Duck & Hedges Limited

Edinburgh Property Letting Limited

Entwistle Green Limited

Executive Property Services Residential Ltd
Executry Services Scottand Limited

Faron Sutaria & Company Limited

Finders Keepers Limited

Fitz-Gibbon Limited

Ford Property Services Limited

Frank tnnes Countrywide Limited
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Ragisterad Dyt roract
aderass CaLer 7 1Groun
Corrpar, rarrg lre'el to raig 3 - Sarad ~erast
Freeman Forman Letting Limited 3 [ Yo irdiract
Freeman Faorman Limited 3 [T 10 Irciract
Fulfords Estate Agents Limited 3 U Pl ndirant
Gascoigne Halman Group Limited 1 UK 28273 Diract
Gascoigne Halman {Holdings) Limited N OES P irdicact
Gascoigne Halman Limited E S v Irdirast
Gasgcoigne Halman Private Finance Limited 3 LK v ledhrant
Gascoigne Pees Estate Agents Limited 3 L I irdicact
Gertingpet Limited 3 WK O irchrant
Gilpra Managemaent Limited ' JK BTSN ledirert
Greene & Co Maintenance Limited 8 SRS indiract
Grosvenor Private Clients Limited 3 L v Irdiranct
Hall and Benson Limited i LK v Irdirect
Hamptons Estates Limited 7 T vl irdiract
Hamptons Group Limited 3 RSTRE Irdirast
Hamptons Interationat (Hong Kong) Limited ] Rt
Hamptors International {India) Private Limited e ria Lo refirant
Hamptons Internationat Mortgages Limited 3 K fIT Iritirant
Hamptons Property Consultancy Limited 2% Zarkans AT Hals [FE=51
Harecastle Limited 1z P 1200 irdiress
Harrisons Estate Agents Limited 3 WK R ritract
Harvey Donaldscon & Gibson Limited 1 LK DO et
Hatched.co.uk Limited ! LN o irira
Hatchedepc.co.uk Limited ! s KR irrrast
HCW Estate Agents Limited 3 s L trtract
HCW Group Limited 2 L YL
HCW Insurance Services Limited 3 s 1.
Heritage Family Estates Limited ! K A
Herring Baker Hatris East Anglia Ltd 3 L BT reliract
Herring Baker Harris Europe Ltd 3 o RPN irelirg ot
Herring Baker Harris Nominees Limited 3 LE L Irtrz ot
Hetheringtons 3 LK NPT reirst
Hetheringtons Estate Agents Limited ” L U et
Hockleys Professional Limited ! LT Tirect
Holland Mitchell Limited 2 K DL
Holroyds Restdential Limited ! LR i irdia st
Home Frem Home Limited 2 BLS l rre
Housemans Management Company Limited 2 o I et
Housemans Management Secretarial Limited tZ wr UL Igrast
Howunalis Limited 3 S e irdhra
Howuncea b K, 20
Howunsay 3 e (DDA
Hurst Independent Financial Services Limited H LA 1 ~re Tt
lan Peat Property Management Limited 3 LK 10T Irdirz st
THLS Limited ' LK IR rdiract
Ikon Consuitancy Limited E IR - Irdract
In Home Legal Services Limited ! T LA mdract
Interest Only Solutions Limited ' PE tIeT. Dirant
Interlet Property Management Limited
2 it - irdratt
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Ragistarad
adurass

Courtry 7

Chiactiraire ot
arang

Comrpary rame trefar by rote. rcorgorahion RIES

Isite. UK.Com Limited 3 UK 130 Pl
JP & Brimelow (Lettings and Property Management) Limited 3 JK 153 AT
JAM Advisors Limited 13 LK 1o e
JK Lettings Limited 3 UK 1o Ichre
John Curtis Lettings & Management Limited 3 UK 17

John Curtis Limited 3 UK 1 Irdirant
John D Wood & Co. (Residential & Agricultural) Limited 25 UK 1o et
John D Wood & Co. Plc 3 LK 1o b
John Frances Limited 3 LK 1 bt
John Francis {Wales) Limited 3 518 1

Just Wills Limited 1 UK 10 irebiract
Just Wills Group Limited 1 [VES T et
Just Wills Holdings Limited 1 LK oo Dirat
Kean Kennedy Ltd 17 UK 1o rgirant
Kevin Henry Limited 1 L= 1 I ahranct
Kilroy Estate Agents Limited 3 L 15

King & Chasemore Limited 3 LK 17

Knights of Bath Limited 3 U224 T

Knightsbridge Estate Agents and Valuers Limited 3 LK 170

Labyrinth Management Limited 12 LK 100

Lambert Smith Hampton (City) Limited 5 LK 1o

Lambert Smith Hampton (Niretand} Limited a UK 100

Lambert Smith Hampton Group {Overseas) Limited 3 18 13

Lambert Smith Hampton Group Limited ] LK 150

Lambert Smith Hampton Investment Management Limited 2 UK 17 frabract
Lambert Smith Hampton Limited 3 150 ircirant
Lambert Smith Hampton Limited (Ireland) £+ 1.0

Lampons Residential Limited 2 D

Land and New Homes Countrywide Limited 3 170 ircrs t
Lanes Land Limited 3 K 120 TN
Lanes Property Agents (Cheshunt) Limited 3 K 130 irciract
Leasehold Legal Services Limited 3 e 1 ASTER
Leasemanco Limited 12 UK roirect
Legal Services Probate Limited ! UK irchre ot
Legal Services UK Limited ! i irdiract
Let Lucas Rental Specialists Limited 3 [F18 SIER irdiraat
Let Verde Limited 3 L o irdirast
Letmore Group Ltd 3 LK AR ‘rdirg ot
Letmore Lettings Ltd 3 K rdirest
Lets -- Cover Limited 3 N1 RN frefira s
Letters of Distinction Limited 3 LS 'rdirgt
Life and Easy Limited 13 UK Ireirat
Lifestyle Management (York) Co. Limited 3 LK ; frchiret
Lighthause Property Services Ltd 3 UK irdirsot
London & Country Property Auctions Limited 7 JK 37 et
LS1 Limited 3 UK 10 Ircirast
Maitland Lettings Limited 3 UK Irairact
Mann & Co. {(Kent) Limited 3 LiK lrract
Mann & Co. Limited 3 JK 1 R H T
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Appendix — Reiated undertakings of the Group at 31 December 2021 (continued)

Ragiaiaran
4

. R 3 Courtry oF

Tovpar. rame sefeelorotes ircorgoralionr boowred

Mann Countrywide Limited ES UK 1o,

Merchant Executive Properties Limited 11 LK 1267

Merchant Lettings (Ayrshire) Limited 1! UK 10057y

Merchant Lettings (Edinburgh) Limited ' UK 120

Merchant Lettings (Paisley) Limited t LS I{VE Imdire st
Marchant Lettings Limited " LK 12057 frateant
Merchant Maintenance Limited 1 UK Il
Michael Rhedes Property Management Limited 2 S8 frdirant
Mid Cornwall Letting Limited £ [U1.8 Irdire 2t
Miller Estate Agents Limited 3 UK et
Modernmode Limited 3 LK Ireiract
Moarris Dibben Limited 5 LIX 100 lrdirect
Mortgage Intelligence Holdings Limited 139 LK 1362~ Indirazt
Mortgage Intelligence Limited 13 914 a0, irdiract
Mortgage Next Limited 13 LK

Mortgage Next Network Limited 15 e

Mortgage Next Packaging Limited 3 UK

Mountford Limited 3 918

Nest Lettings & Management Limited 3 519

New Homes Mortgage Solutions Limited 3 L

New Space (Derby) Limited 3 [BES

New Space Margate Ltd 3 Uk

NHMH Direct Limited . LK

Obmes Limited A LK

Palmer Snell Limited a LY

Patterson Bowe Ltd 3 LS

Pattison Lane Estate Agents Limited 1 L

Pebble Property Management and Lettings Limited 3 o

Personal Homefinders Limited ] L

Peter Alan Black Limited 1 A

Peter Alan Limited ) L 3 Bt
Phillips Brown Limited 3 K, fertran
PKL Group Limited 3 LK 1 Pries
PKL Limited 2 e o poheaet
PKL Management Limited 3 [PES

Plaza Letting Agents Limited 3 w

Poolman Harlow Limited 3 1%

Porter Glenny Limited 1 s

Porter Glenny New Homes Limited ! K

Portiolio Letting Agents & Consultants Lid v UK

Potteries Property Services Limited 3 K

Preston Bennett Holdings Limited 2 K
Preston Bennett Limited 3 R

Property Management (North East) Limited 3 [
Propertywide Limited 7 [
Protection Helpline Limited . o
R.A. Bennett & Partners Ltd 3 LA " iries s
Redstone Wills Limited B o 1m0 Cirs -t

e

Regal Lettings and Property Management Kent Limited
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Appendix — Related undertakings of the Group at 31 December 2021 (continued)
Dirant arrlieart

HEroLn
Taorrpar, rare G oowrard mlerest
Relocation Solutions Countrywide Limited 3 1007, hediract
Rentons Estate Agents Limited b LK Irdiract
Rasi Capital Limited v LK Irciirant
Resi Capital Member Limited 7 LK Iredireact
Richard Dalton Limited 3 [ Ircliract
RMS Estate Agents Limited ! LK Diract
RMS Mortgage Services Limited ! UK 10, Iretiract
Roberts & Co Property Management Limited ! Lk 1057, Irdirect
RPT Management Seivices Pl E UK, 13067, Irdiranct
Russells Lettings Limited 3 UK Iridiract
Saville Home Management Limited 3 LIk Irchirect
Securemove Property Services 2005 Limited 3 K 1067, Irdirect
Securemove Property Services Limited 3 UK 170, Iridiract
Sequence (UK) Limited ! UK 1307, Dwract
ServPro Limited ’ W18 1267, lrudirant
Sharman Quinney Holdings Limited 1 UK 937, Dirent
Slater Hogg & Howison Limited 3 K 15 Iprirant
Slater Hogg Mortgages Limited 13 1Y 1007 Indirect
Snape Lettings Ltd 3 UK 1307 Irdiract
Spencers Estate Agents Limited 3 ¥Es 330 Irderact
Spencers Surveyors Limited 3 UK 150, Irdiract
Sprint Property Acquisitions Ltd 3 LS 1707, irdirant
Stan Collins & Co Ltd 1 e 1000, Irdiract
Statehold Limited 3 i 100, irdirant
Stratton Creber Limited 3 L 1o [ Jdiraet
Sundale Properties Limited 3 A 1507, et
SurveyingPro.co.uk Limited 3 L 107, Irdiract
Sutton Kersh Auctions & Sales Ltd b 4 1200 Irdir=ct
Sutton Kersh Holdings Lid 3 e TG Iritirast
Tabtesign Limited 3 Lix 1 irdirent
Taylors Estate Agents Ltd 3 U I irdirzet
The Asset Management Group Limited 2 [B18 5. Dirant
The Butler Club Limited 3 LK 1 rirant
The Buy To Let Business Limited T K T irdiract
The Buy To Let Group Limited e K 1367, indiract
The Flat Managers Limited 3 UK AEMR bnchiract
The Good Mortgage Company Ltd 3 i 1S imdirent
The Greene Corporation Limited 3 UK 1500 ket
The London Residential Agency Limited 2 Lk 1750 lediract
The New Homes Group Limited ! LK LS Oyract
The Universal Trust Corporation ! [ T3 lrdirent
The Willmaster Limited ! LK LN lectir=nt
The Willmaster (Storage) Lirmited : UK 1003 Irdirest
Thommas James Lettings Limited 3 UK 3L Irdirect
Thomson & Moulton Limited 3 UK 130 Irdirzet
Tingleys Lettings Limited 3 Lk 13w irdiraat
TitleAbsolute Limited 20 LK 150G irdiract
TNHG Limited 1 UK 12 rdiract
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Carepary rame

Town & County Residential Limited
Tucker Gardner Residential Limited
Umberman Limited

United Surveyaors Limited

Vanet Property Asset Managemant Limited

Vibrant Energy Matters Lirnited
Waferprime Limited

Wallhead Gray & Coates

Watson Bull & Porter Limited
Westcounfry Property Auctions Limited
White Space Property Group Limited
Willeraft Services iimited

Wilson Peacock Estate Agents Limited
Woods Block Management Limited
WSB Property Management Limited
Wyse Lettings Limited

Young & Butt Limited

Young Lettings Limited

Your Mortgage Cloud Limited

Zeus Financial Services Limited

Registered offices:

1.

2. 13-21 High street, Guildford, Surrey, GU1 3DG

3. 42 Alderley Road, Wilmslow, Cheshire, SK9 1NY

4, Windmill Road, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex, TN38 9BY

5. 4" floor, 115 George Street, Edinburgh, EH2 4IN

6. 2 Foxes Lane, Qakdale Business Park, Blackwood, Gwent, NP12 4AB

7.

8. 3rd Floor, 1 Ashley Road. Altrincham, Cheshire, WA 14 2DT, United Kingdom
9.

10.

United Kingdom

11. ¢/ Countrywide Lettings Ltd, 71 Candleriggs, Glasgow, Lanarkshire, GT TNP, United Kingdom
12 North Point, Stafford Drive, Battlefield Enterprise Park, Shrewsbury, SY1 38F, United Kingdom
13. The Capitol Building, Otdbury, Bracknell, RG12 8FZ, United Kingdom

14 Lee House, 30 Great 8ridgewater Street, Manchester, M1 5RR, United Kingdom

15 Rooms 1101-04, 138 Glaucester Road, Hong Kong

[EN I A & ¥

2

o W

s3]

A

o

Cumbria House, 16-20 Hackliffe Street. Leighton Buzzard, Bedfordshire, LU7 1GN

Greenwnod House, Tst Fioor, 91-99 New Londan Road, Cheimsford, Essex, CM2 0PP

5th Ftoor, United Kingdom House, 180 Cxford Street, London, W1D 1NN, United Kingdom
6 Caldecolte Lake Business Park, Caldecatte Lake Drive, Caldecotte, Milton Keynes, Buckinghamshire, MK7 8JT,

Connells Limited

AV AT

16. F-509, 5th Floor, Ashish Corporate Tower, Plot No. 18, Karkardooma Commiunity Centre, New Delhi, India
17. Suite 3.7, 3rd Floor, Standard Buildings, 94 Hope Street. Glasgow. G2 6PH, United Kingdom

18. Suite 2A, St Davids Coust, Union Street. Wolverhampton, WV 1 3JE, United Kingdom

19. Roddis House, 4th Floor, 4-12 Old Christchurch Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH1 1LG, United Kingdom

20, Churchgate House, 2nd Floor, 56 Oxford Street, Manchester, M1 8EU, United Kingdom
21. 1200 Deita Business Park, Swindon, Wiltshire, SN5 7XZ, United Kingdom

22. Sixth Flaor, 150 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6ET, United Kingdom

23. 15 Atholt Crescent, Edinburgh, EH3 8HA, United Kingdom

24. 86-88 Leeson Street Lower, Dublin 2, DO2 A668, Ireland

25. Heritage House, Pinfold Street, Bridgetown, Barbados

26. 48 Elizabeth Street, London, SW1W 9PA  United Kingdom
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